

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Department of Plant Breeding

Dissection of Drought Tolerance Mechanism in Wheat Plant

Yuzhou Lan



Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science, 2020:2 Alnarp, Sweden 2020

Dissection of Drought Tolerance Mechanism in Wheat Plant

Yuzhou Lan

Place of publication: Alnarp, Sweden

Year of publication: 2020

Cover picture: Wheat plants exposed to different drought stress. Photo: Yuzhou Lan

Title of series: Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science

Part number: 2020:2

Online publication: <u>https://stud.epsilon.slu.se</u> Keywords: Wheat, Drought tolerance, Physiological response, Association study

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences The Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Breeding

Summary

As wheat is one of the three major crops in the world, improving its drought tolerance is crucial for human beings to develop sustainable food in the context of global climate change. This review updates the studies on wheat exposed to drought stress. In this work, the physiological responses of wheat plants under water deficit are discussed from different angles. A comprehensive description of drought-tolerance mechanisms in wheat plants is given. The current state of researches on drought-related traits is reviewed. To further demonstrate the genetic basis of wheat drought tolerance, some knowledge of the powerful genetic research tool, Genome-wide Association study, is elaborated on. In addition, this review also summarizes multiple potential approaches for further studies on drought-related candidate genes. The results obtained utilizing those advanced technologies in this area so far are thoroughly illustrated. Finally, the challenges of investigating wheat genotypes in drought condition and mixtures of natural abiotic stresses are discussed. Traditional difficulties and novel progress in the wheat root system investigation are elaborated.

Contents

1.	Introduction	5
1.1.	Importance of Wheat	5
1.2.	Relationship between temperature and drought	7
1.3.	Effects of drought on wheat	9
1.3	3.1. Grain Yield	9
1.3	3.2. Grain Quality	0
2.	Physiological response of wheat to drought stress	1
2.1.	Root system1	1
2.2.	Shoot system1	1
2.3.	Floral organs1	2
3.	Drought tolerance	3
3.1.	Drought-tolerance mechanisms in wheat	3
3.2.	Drought-tolerance genes in wheat1	4
3.3.	Breeding of drought-tolerance wheat varieties1	6
4.	Traits associated with drought stress	7
4.1.	Flag leaf size1	7
4.2.	Heading date and Flowering time1	8
4.3.	Canopy temperature1	8
4.4.	Number of tillers, Number of spikes and Number of grains1	9
4.5.	Roots	0
5.	Genome-wide Association Study (GWAS)	1
5.1.	What is GWAS	1
5.	1.1. Genetic makers	1
5.	1.2. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) decay2	2
5.	1.3. Phenotypic data 2	3
5.	1.4. Genotypic data	4
5.2.	The role of GWAS for drought stress research	4
5.3.	GWAS applied in wheat research	3
6.	Further studies on candidate genes associated with drought stress	6
6.1.	RNA interference	7
6.2.	Virus-induced genes silencing	7
6.3.	Gene overexpression	9
7.	Challenges, Hypothesis and Perspectives	0
8.	References	2

1. Introduction

1.1. Importance of Wheat

As one of the main sources of human and livestock calories, wheat is the world's most widely grown crop, providing about 20% of calories and proteins globally to the human diet, while maize contributes 5% of the calories and 4% of the proteins, and rice contributes 19% of the calories and 13% of the proteins [1]. Furthermore, in 2012, approximately 26% of the calories consumed in Europe per day was from wheat [2]. Wheat is currently grown in approximately 220 million ha fields in diverse geographic regions, under a wide range of climate conditions, and over 670 million tonnes grains are produced annually [1]. The statistics of production in the last two decades published by FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#compare) indicate a substantial increase in yield of wheat. A series of technological achievements, including semi-dwarf and high yielding varieties and an appropriate policy by the wheat breeding industry have ensured the access of farmers to new seeds, fertilizer, markets and irrigation infrastructure. [3-6]. Recently, the 749million-ton and 772-million-ton global production of wheat in 2015 and 2017, respectively, exceeded the production of rice and made wheat the second most-cropped cereal after maize (Figure 1). Several species of wheat are available under the genus Triticum. Among them, Triticum aestivum (AABBDD, 2n=42), a hexaploid species usually called "common" or "bread" wheat, is one of the main staple crops and the most commonly cultivated wheat species, accounting for 95% of all kinds of wheat [7].



Source: FAOSTAT (Sep 11, 2019)

Fig. 1. Comparison of World Wheat and Rice Production from 1997-2017.

Compared with the other two major crops (rice and maize), wheat has the widest growing area in the world. According to the data published on the FAO website (Figure 2), the area of wheat harvested globally in the past 60 years has been significantly higher than that of rice and maize. Wheat has often been considered as a source of calories instead of an ideal source of protein due to its high content of starch (60-70% of the whole grain and 65-75% of white flour) and the composition of its proteins. However, wheat provides as much protein for human and livestock as the total soybean crop, despite the relatively low protein content of wheat [8].

In 1880, a Bread Reform League was established in London to advocate a return to wholemeal bread, suggesting that officially a minimum standard of 80% flour extraction rate should be adopted. With a clear conflict with general tastes as well as the profits of bread processing companies, this kind of promotion was not supported at that time. However, the League received scientific support in 1911 when Gowland Hopkins stated that 'Standard Bread' may contain 'unrecognized food substances' which were crucial for health: these substances were later defined as vitamins [9]. Thus, in addition to contributing towards solving human starvation and poverty problems, wheat has also been shown to contribute high nutritional value in the human diet, particularly in regions where bread, noodles and other wheat products are a substantial proportion of the diet. After decades of research, wheat, especially in its whole-grain version, has been identified as a source of multiple nutrients, such as minerals, dietary fibre, and bioactive compounds. Whole-grain consumption usually shows a significant connection with reduced levels of the most relevant risk factors for cardio-metabolic disease such as LDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, blood glucose, blood pressure and body mass index [10]. Recently, a meta-analysis confirmed the association between wheat consumption and a reduced risk for disease and cancer [11].



Fig.2. Comparison of the World Harvested Area of Three Main Crops from 1961-2017.

1.2. Relationship between temperature and drought

Some of the staple crops, including wheat, are threatened by different adverse factors negatively affecting their productivity [12]. Moreover, several abiotic stresses such as drought and heat are becoming increasingly frequent, as a result of ongoing progressive global climate changes [13]. Drought is known as an always important environmental constraint that limits crop yield in many regions around the world [14]. According to the statistics from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [15] (https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-1/), there is at present an upward trend for global temperature change, whether human-induced or natural (sonic and volcanic activity) (Figure. 3). Furthermore, the duration of the drought period is increasing due to climate change, contributing to warming of the air temperature in most cereal growing regions [2]. Drought and high temperature often occur simultaneously and both are known to suppress photosynthesis and productivity of wheat by different mechanisms. Drought stress directly inhibits the expansion of leaves and stomatal conductance and may eventually indirectly affect the photosynthetic process [16]. High temperature is known to directly impact photosynthesis and related processes in wheat in several ways [17].



Fig. 3. Evolution of global mean surface temperature (GMST) over the period of instrumental observations

Compared with durum wheat, which accounts for only 5% of all kinds of wheat, bread wheat shows less acclimation to a dry and hot climate. Thus, an improved tolerance to abiotic stresses in bread wheat is urgently needed. Based on recent data on climate change released by IPCC, crops will suffer more severe combinations of abiotic stress in the future than previously estimated, due to anticipated increasing incidences of drought combined with a heatwave [18-20]. Therefore, studies to understand the effect of such stress combinations will help to increase wheat production under adverse conditions globally. It is well-known that drought is mainly caused by limited precipitation and high temperature, but the opposite i.e. that drought is leading to less rainfall and higher environmental temperature has also been proven [21]. Studies on interactions between the two phenomena has been ongoing for decades, and physiological plant parameters were shown more severe under drought at high than at low temperature [22]. The combination of drought with high temperature was found not only to reduce cell division but also to reduce dry matter accumulation and the storage capacity of the grain [23]. One study in sorghum demonstrated that heat and drought stress in the pre-flowering phase dramatically delayed panicle initiation and flowering [24]. In barley drought was found to cause losses in individual grain weight to a higher extent than did high temperature. Consistently, reduction in individual grain weight was found greatest under combined stress [25]. In general, wheat [26], purslane [27], barley [28], arabidopsis [29], tobacco [30] and citrus plants [31] displayed more severe damage unanimously when exposed to the combined stresses of drought and heat than when exposed to only one of the stresses.

1.3. Effects of drought on wheat

Drought is a major limiting factor in crop production in most of the agricultural fields all over the world [32]. Water deficit is restricting the growth of plants by inducing various changes in physiological, biochemical, morphological, and molecular behaviors in plants [33]. In addition, it inhibits the photosynthesis of plants by causing changes in chlorophyll contents, damages to the photosynthetic apparatus, and decreases in activities of enzymes in the Calvin Cycle [34, 35]. Furthermore, the inhibition of photosynthetic activity under drought stress could lead to oxidative stress by generating active oxygen species (AOS) in leaves [36].

1.3.1. Grain Yield

The development of crop varieties with high and satisfactory yield potentials is the key to increasing productivities in dry regions where yield reduction by drought is a major concern [37]. Furthermore, grain yield is also a crucial agronomic trait serving as a criterion for assessing drought tolerance in wheat. The most widely used criteria for selecting high yield performance include mean yield, mean productivity and relative yield performance in drought and favorable conditions [38]. However, it is difficult to make progress for grain yield under drought conditions as it is a complex trait that is characterized by large genotype \times environment interactions under drought stress [39]. Even though, breeders and plant physiologists will never stop exploring opportunities to develop drought tolerant cultivars with high yield due to the importance of this trait. The drought susceptibility index (DSI) derived from the yield difference between drought and favorable environments was introduced to characterize the stability of grain yield for each genotype [40], and has been widely applied in several studies on yield stability under water deficit conditions [41, 42]. Other traits, such as water-soluble carbohydrates and flag leaf glaucousness, have been proposed as key traits reflecting grain yield under drought conditions [43, 44].

Large cultivar differences in grain yield under drought have been verified [45]. There is a general agreement that modern high yielding wheat cultivars are more adapted to optimal environments, while old cultivars and landraces display a more reliable yield under unfavorable conditions such as drought [46]. This view is supported by another research, in which 30 wheat cultivars and 21 landraces were employed. The result indicated that grain yield was more drought sensitive than plant height and number of spikelets per spike in cultivars, while no significant diversity was observed among these traits in landraces. This might suggest that landraces adapt better to drought conditions [47]. A two-year field trial with rainout shelter on wheat proved that the grain yield under drought was correlated with canopy temperatures [40]. Further efforts were put into constructing an SSR/EST-STS marker map in wheat, and a major quantitative traits locus (QTL) on chromosome 4AL was identified to have a significant

influence on wheat grain yield under drought [48]. Another two QTLs located on chromosome 3B were found correlated to canopy temperature and grain yield through a series of experiments over three field seasons by using a wheat population containing 368 individuals [49].

1.3.2. Grain Quality

In general, wheat grain quality can be divided into three groups (i) botanical (species and varieties), (ii) physical and (iii) chemical characteristics [50]. However, scientific research has mainly been focusing on physical and chemical characteristics. Physical quality characteristics of the wheat grain include grain weight, hardness, grain size and shape, vitreousness and color [51, 52]. Chemical characteristics of wheat grain include moisture content, protein (gluten)-, amylase- and fiber contents [53]. In fact, the grain quality is also connected to the grain yield. For instance, yield losses are often caused by a decline of starch content, as over 65% of cereal grains are composed of starch [54]. The starch accumulation and cell division were also found to be influenced by post-anthesis drought [55]. The diversity in grain quality also depends on genotypes, the soil, nutrient supplies, weather conditions and their interactions. In respect of environmental conditions, the adverse weather conditions like insufficient precipitation and high temperature during the growing season has a substantial impact on the plant metabolic systems, and therefore on wheat grain quality [56].

The bread-making quality of the wheat kernels is determined by grain protein concentration and composition, which is greatly influenced by drought and heat stress [57]. An investigation on winter wheat revealed that a water deficit during grain filling showed a drastic influence on protein components [58]. Another study on five winter wheat cultivars indicated that drought stress could significantly affect starch granule and relative protein content [59]. Variation of grain quality in winter wheat cultivars were found associated with changes in protein composition under drought stress during grain filling [60]. It was reported that wheat protein content could be significantly increased under drought stress during grain filling [61], and this conclusion has also been verified by other studies [62, 63]. Increased protein content may be attributed to higher rates of grain nitrogen accumulation and/or to lower rates of carbohydrate accumulation under stress conditions [64]. Furthermore, the transcriptional progress of storage proteins was inhibited due to the repressed expression of wheat storage protein genes, i.e. for expression and production of gliadins and glutenins under a short-term drought stress [65]. A comparative proteomic analysis of grains in two spring wheat varieties exhibited that two previously identified drought-tolerant proteins, triosephosphate isomerase and oxygen-evolving complex, showed diverse expression patterns between Chinese Spring and Ningchun 4. The differentially expressed proteins might be the reason for the stronger drought tolerance of Ningchun 4 compared to Chinese Spring [66]. Additionally, drastically enhanced flour yellowness with drought stress was observed in a two-year trial in durum wheat cultivars [67]. The values of micronutrients such as Fe and Zn in wheat grains were found to increase in severe drought conditions [68].

2. Physiological response of wheat to drought stress

After thousands of years of evolution, plants developed several strategies to survive in water-deficit conditions. Compared with well-watered plants, those under drought stress show differences in physiological conditions such as transpiration, photosynthesis, shoot and root growth, and reproductive development [69]. In wheat, several transcription factors, such as bHLH, bZIP, ERF, HD-ZIP, NAC, and WRKY were found to be differentially expressed in a drought-tolerant wheat genotype [70]. Furthermore, a proteomic study on durum wheat revealed that the activity level of enzymes representing the tricarboxylic acid cycle could also be considered as an important response to drought [71].

2.1. Root system

Unlike the shoot system, roots are a hidden part underground of a plant, responsible for growth and supplying the above-ground part with water and nutrients [72]. As the root system is where the plant has direct contact with soil, studying the root system in water-limited soil can help to understand the plant response to drought better. Based on soil moisture, root traits vary from species to species [73]. In wheat, genotypic variation has been proven in several root characteristics, which include the depth of rooting, root elongation rate, root distribution at depth, xylem vessel diameter, and root to shoot dry matter ratio [74-80]. Severe water deficit was found to cause oxidative stress in plant root tissues, so the reactive oxygen species restriction and well-coordinated induction of antioxidant defense in roots were reported as the key to enhanced drought tolerance in wheat [81]. Even though scientists have long found that the root system was highly associated with drought tolerance in wheat [82], our knowledge on root interaction with the soil environment is still limited. Fortunately, the advances in imaging and sensor technologies in recent decades are making thorough root research more possible and effective [83]. Compared with standard wheat variety, the drought-tolerant wheat displayed a more uniform rooting pattern and greater root length at depth [76]. This is supported by the result of another study, which suggested that deep rooting is one of the alternative strategies to drought stress in wheat [84]. Also, studies on winter wheat demonstrated that roots of drought treated plants reached 20 cm deeper in subsoil than the well-watered ones [85]. Greater wheat yield with a deeper root system was assessed using a validated crop simulation model [86]. Furthermore, the number of nodal roots of wheat was found to be reduced significantly under drought while the seminal roots were less affected [87]. A recent study with six commercial and breeding forms of spring wheat indicated that drought-tolerant genotypes displayed a lower shoot-to-root ratio. Additionally, elevated dry matter, length and diameter of nodal and lateral roots was found in tolerant genotypes [88].

2.2. Shoot system

Shoots of plants consist of stems and leaves, with lateral buds and flower buds germinating on the stems [89]. It is well-known that water-soluble carbohydrates (WSCs) can accumulate in the stem and leaf

sheath of cereals [90, 91]. There are several components of WSCs while fructan is the major form accumulated in wheat stems at the late stage of the accumulation phase, and those components can account for more than forty percent of total stem dry weight [92, 93]. WSCs were proven to mobilize from the stem to grain during the later phase of grain filling [94]. Furthermore, a study on wheat revealed that the carbohydrates reserve in stems could be largely relocated to grains under drought conditions, fifty to eighty percent higher than the amount in well-watered group [95]. The stem WSCs in wheat were reported to potentially contribute to more than fifty percent of total grain yield under drought conditions [96].

Stomatal conductance is another important drought-related physiological trait. In wheat, stomatal conductance was found to be correlated with canopy temperature in a variety of climatic conditions [97, 98]. A noticeable decrease in stomatal conductance was observed in wheat when exposed to waterdeficit condition [99]. By comparing different wheat varieties under drought stress, lower stomatal conductance and transpiration rate were observed in drought-tolerant varieties at both vegetative and reproductive stages [100]. Stomatal conductance was reported to be mediated by abscisic acid (ABA) as a response of wheat to drought conditions [101]. Furthermore, the stomatal closure is also regulated by ABA in wheat under drought stress [102]. A study with six spring durum wheat cultivars suggested that the inhibited photosynthesis can be attributed to the drought-induced reduction of stomatal conductance [103]. This result is supported by another study which confirmed that the limitation of photosynthesis in water deficit wheat is mainly caused by stomatal closure [104]. Those early studies suggested that the stomatal closure was triggered to reduce the water loss under drought but could also lead to a decrease of leave gas exchange and then inhibit photosynthesis. However, a later study on durum wheat questioned it and pointed out the flaw of early research. By measuring the internal CO2 concentration in wheat leaves under drought, they found a similar CO2 level to well-watered conditions. Thus, it means that the decreased stomatal conductance was not the main cause for the inhibited photosynthesis of leaves under drought [105].

2.3. Floral organs

In wheat, anther development can be severely affected by drought during the pollen mother cell meiosis. Microspore mother cells were observed to complete the meiosis, but further microspore development was stopped at drought conditions. This behavior can be due to the dislocation of the microspores from their normal position in water deficit wheat [106, 107]. The grain development starts with the fertilization of egg and polar nuclei. Fertilized egg and polar nuclei form the zygote and triploid endosperm respectively [108]. Grain filling can be regarded as the result of starch biosynthesis and accumulation in wheat. The grain filling is strongly determined by current photosynthesis and reserve assimilates in vegetative tissues [90, 109]. Under drought conditions, the grain-filling rate decreases due to declined photosynthesis and accelerated leaf senescence [110]. The dramatically affected grain

number largely accounts for the reduction of wheat yields under drought [111]. Furthermore, the lack of fertilization of the egg is the major cause of the reduction of grain number [112].

When subjected to drought stress, the fertility in different winter wheat genotypes was all inhibited significantly [113]. The result of a recent study demonstrated that the seed-setting of wheat could be reduced by up to 51 percent when exposed to short-term drought stress at meiosis stage meanwhile, 60 drought-responsive protein spots were identified via proteome analysis [114]. Furthermore, both male and female reproductive parts are responsible for the seed-setting reduction in wheat when drought treated during meiosis, but the male reproductive part contributes more to yield reduction [115]. By analyzing the possible links between pollen fertility and drought tolerance under different levels of stress at young microspore stage, the grain number in wheat exhibited a sharper decline under more severe water deficit [116]. Another study suggested that the reduction of potential grain number in wheat under water deficit conditions might be due to the premature abortion of florets [117]. Several differentially expressed genes were detected in wheat both during early reproductive periods and for the flowering period via a transcriptomics analysis [118]. An increase of ABA was observed in ovaries and anthers under drought stress [119]. The drought-induced accumulation of ABA in spike was also proven to be associated with the loss of male fertility in wheat [120]. An investigation on five wheat varieties indicated that the number of sterile florets per head can be increased in water deficit wheat [121].

3. Drought tolerance

Drought tolerance is defined as the ability of a plant to survive, grow, and reproduce with limited water supply or under periodic conditions of water deficit [122]. For plants, drought tolerance is a complicated trait that can be influenced by multiple characteristics [123]. For crop plants, given the common use of crops, special attention should be paid to the ability to produce a harvestable yield under drought conditions. As drought tolerance is a quantitative trait, with complex phenotype and genetic control [124], dissecting the characteristics of such a trait from multiple aspects is a theoretical prerequisite for developing tolerant genotypes through conventional breeding.

3.1. Drought-tolerance mechanisms in wheat

In terms of mechanism, scientists normally consider drought tolerance from two aspects, drought avoidance and dehydration tolerance [125]. Drought avoidance is mainly reflected in changes in root depth, reasonable use of available water, and changes in lifestyle to use rainfall. Additionally, early maturity, small plant size, and reduced leaf area were reported to be connected with drought tolerance [126]. Dehydration tolerance is reflected in the capability of plants to withstand partially dehydration and grow again when rewatered [127]. Some compatible solutes such as K⁺, glycinebetaine, proline,

and glucose were identified to actively contribute to osmotic adjustment in wheat under drought stress [128]. A study with four different wheat cultivars revealed that the level of inorganic solutes was decreased while the level of organic solutes was increased under drought treatment [129].

Furthermore, increased levels of NO (nitric oxide) was found in drought-tolerant wheat varieties and may be related to the drought-induced inhibition in root growth [130]. Salicylic acid (SA) was identified as another signaling molecule to enhance drought tolerance through increased accumulation of solutes [129]. The increase of cysteine protease, functioning upon limiting protein loss in dehydration, was detected in leaves of a drought-tolerant wheat cultivar [131]. Results of another study confirmed the crucial role of a cysteine protease protein by its overexpression in *Arabidopsis* [132].

To better understand the drought-tolerance mechanism in wheat, the mechanism of drought damage to plants needs to be elaborated. Inside wheat plants, drought stress can lead to a reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation in chloroplast and mitochondria, which then causes further oxidative damage to cells [133]. Therefore, enhanced drought tolerance can be partially attributed to an enhanced tolerance to oxidative stress in wheat seedlings due to both ROS restriction and well-coordinated activation of antioxidant defense [81]. In addition, a different study with two drought-tolerant and two droughtsensitive wheat genotypes also suggested that the drought tolerance in wheat can be determined by the number of antioxidant enzymes [134]. The activity of some antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione reductase (GR) and ascorbate peroxidase (AscP) in leaves of wheat cultivars was observed to be increased on the 3rd and 5th days of drought [135]. Furthermore, the acclimated wheat plants displayed lower accumulations of superoxide radicals and less membrane damage in leaves and roots than nonacclimated plants when subjected to severe drought stress [136]. Additionally, ABA was reported to be correlated with a more efficient mechanism to scavenge ROS under drought in a drought-tolerant wheat cultivar. The activity of an antioxidant enzyme, superoxide dismutase (SOD), was observed to be significantly enhanced by drought-induced endogenous ABA in wheat. Meanwhile, the decline of the activity was also observed on rewatering the wheat [137].

3.2. Drought-tolerance genes in wheat

As mentioned before, drought tolerance is a complex trait regulated by multiple genes [124]. Through decades of efforts, several drought-related genes in wheat were identified. One of the well-characterized drought-related groups of genes is *Lea* genes, which encode the Late Embryogenesis Abundant (LEA) proteins. LEA proteins have been classified into six groups according to their sequence similarities [138]. The ABA-responsive barley gene *HVA1* regulates the synthesis of a kind of protein which is in group 3 LEA. After introducing *HVA1* into spring wheat, scientists observed higher water use efficiency values in two homozygous and one heterozygous transgenic line expressing the *HVA1* gene [139]. In wheat seedlings, higher levels of group 3 LEA proteins were induced in shoot and scutellar tissue after

being dehydrated to 90% [140]. Furthermore, using Agrobacterium-mediated transformation, scientists introduced the wheat LEA gene, TaLEA3, into Leymus chinensis. The transgenic lines displayed increased relative water content, leaf water potential, and relative average growth rate compared with non-transgenic lines [141]. In study with three the a winter wheat varieties, TaLEA2 and TaLEA3 expression was induced in drought-stressed plants. Additionally, the delayed expression of *TaLEA2* and *TaLEA3* was observed in the least drought-tolerant variety [142].

Some transcription factors (TF) were identified to be involved in drought tolerance in plants [143]. Those TFs binding to the dehydration responsive element (DRE) were named DRE-binding (DREB) proteins [144]. In a study with wild emmer wheat (Triticum turgidum ssp. *dicoccoides*), the gene for an emmer DREB protein, TdicDRF1, was specifically upregulated in drought-tolerant wheat lines in drought conditions. [145].

Another large TFs family is the NAM/ATAF/CUC (NAC) family, which was first described according to the names of three genes, namely *NAM* (no apical meristem), *ATAF* (*Arabidopsis* transcription activation factor), *CUC* (cup-shaped cotyledon) [146, 147]. In a study, scientists introduced the rice *NAC1* gene (*SNAC1*) into an elite Chinese wheat variety. A significantly enhanced drought tolerance was observed in transgenic plants expressing *SNAC1* [148]. The overexpression of *TaNAC1* in roots of wheat was proven to be an effective approach to enhance tolerance to drought due to elevated biomass and root length [149]. Besides, when the wheat NAC gene, *TaNAC2a*, was integrated into tobacco, scientists found higher fresh weight and dry weight in transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing *TaNAC2a* than non-transgenic plants under drought stress [150]. Results of a different study suggested that the expression of *TaNAC8* in wheat can be significantly up-regulated by drought stress simulated with polyethylene glycol (PEG) treatment [151]. Moreover, the strong expression of another NAC gene, *TaNAC69-1*, was detected in a durum wheat variety by reverse transcription quantitative PCR under drought [152].

Vacuolar H⁺-translocating pyrophosphatase (V-PPase) is a crucial enzyme related to plant abiotic stress. The V-PPase gene members in wheat include *TaVP1*, *TaVP2*, and *TaVP3*. Among them, the *TaVP2* gene was found to be more correlated to drought tolerance due to its earlier and more remarkable down-regulation in a drought-tolerant spring wheat cultivar under dehydration stress [153]. Furthermore, enhanced tolerance to drought was observed in transgenic *Arabidopsis* lines with overexpression of *TaVP1* gene from wheat [154].

The term zinc finger refers to protein domains that have a finger-like structure held together by one or more zinc ion(s). Among the entire zinc finger protein family, a really interesting new gene (RING) is known to be involved in protein-protein interaction [155]. In wheat, four (*TaRZF70*, *TaRZF8*, *TaRZF38* and *TaRZF59*) of seven RING zinc finger genes exhibited drastic changes in transcript level under water deficit [156].

3.3. Breeding of drought-tolerance wheat varieties

Scientists have made great efforts to improve wheat drought tolerance. Since 1979, investigations on plant's response to drought have intensified and most of the results emphasized the complexity of the plant's dehydration tolerance mechanism [157]. Researchers soon realized that development of droughttolerant wheat varieties required the integration of plant breeding and plant physiology [158]. Several greenhouse and field screening indices were evaluated for the ability to differentiate drought tolerance in winter wheat cultivars [159]. However, as mentioned in last subsection, a vast number of genes are involved in drought tolerance in wheat. Different genes respond differentially to drought stress. Expressions of those genes can be induced or repressed by drought. Therefore, the complex nature of this trait, drought tolerance, makes breeding work complicated. On the other hand, conventional breeding is labour-intensive and time-consuming. Breeders need to make great efforts to separate undesirable traits from desirable traits generated by random mixing of genomes. This process usually takes several growing seasons [160]. The lack of efficient selection procedures and low genetic variance for yield components under drought conditions might also result in limited break-through with conventional breeding approaches. Nowadays, the advent of new techniques, such as genome-wide tools, proteomics, and thermal or fluorescence imaging, makes it possible to bridge the genotypephenotype gap in traditional breeding. Plant genetic engineering and molecular-marker technology are the two major biotechnological approaches allowing further development of drought-tolerant germplasm [161].

Numerous drought-related molecular markers are currently available for marker-assisted breeding (MAB) technique in different crops including wheat [162]. By using amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) and simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers, scientists detected a QTL responsible for flag leaf senescence on chromosome 2D in drought-stressed winter wheat [163]. In another study, several random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and inter simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers linked to the flag leaf senescence gene in wheat were detected under drought stress [164]. Furthermore, yield-related QTLs in wheat were identified using molecular markers like restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), AFLP, and SSR [165]. These markers derived from modern techniques can be further used as a potential selection tool in wheat breeding programs. On the other hand, transgenesis has emerged as an additional approach to tackle single-gene breeding or transgenic breeding of crops. Genetically modified (GM) drought-tolerant wheat has already been reported to be of potential benefit [166]. Although some drought-tolerant transgenic plants are still under pot experiments or field evaluation, great progress on modern breeding can still be achieved by combining molecular-marker technology and genetic engineering technology [161].

Apart from the shortage of technology in the past, limited achievements in drought tolerance improvement can also be related to isolated scientists putting breeding efforts in various crops. Thus,

more collaboration between breeders and other experts with a common goal can be helpful to the development of drought-tolerant and high yielding wheat varieties [167]. After decades of experience, breeders started to realize that most of the time drought does not occur independently from heat stress [168]. Therefore, combining heat and drought stress is crucial in future breeding for drought-tolerant wheat varieties.

4. Traits associated with drought stress

4.1. Flag leaf size

Traits of flag leaf in wheat can partly indicate the drought tolerance of the whole plant. It is generally accepted that the longer time genotypes can maintain the photosynthesis in flag leaf the higher yield they will produce. The photosynthetic rate of a drought-tolerant wheat cultivar was found to be less affected by drought than that of a sensitive cultivar [169]. The products of flag leaf photosynthesis in wheat have been reported to contribute 30-50% of the composition for grain filling [163]. This is easy to understand from the short distance to spike and the fact that flag leaves sustain green for longer than other leaves. More recently, the grain yield of wheat treated with the removal of flag leaf was observed to drop considerably [170].

Flag leaf area has long been exploited as a selection criterion contributing to drought tolerance in different crops [171, 172]. In sorghum, flag leaf area was proven to be a reliable morpho-physiological parameter for drought tolerance [173]. In rice, a study with 30 genotypes revealed that flag leaf length and width were positively correlated to rice yield under drought [174]. An early study on seven spring wheat genotypes suggested that large flag leaf area might be correlated with a higher yield [175]. Similarly, another study reported the significant association between flag leaf area and grain yield in wheat variety Chinese Spring [176]. Flag leaf sheaths were found to be positively correlated to plant height and grain yield, which means that wheat varieties with longer flag leaf sheaths also displayed yield advantage [177]. Later on, another study with 29 wheat genotypes reported the strong and positive correlation between grain yield and flag leaf area in rainfed condition [178]. Results of a modern investigation on wheat exhibited positive and significant correlations between grain yield and flag leaf area under either drought or normal conditions [179]. Moreover, the results of correlation studies showed that grain yield per plant had a significantly positive correlation with flag leaf area in wheat under drought conditions [180]. A comparison of drought stress responses was made between tolerant and sensitive wheat varieties. A significant decline in glucose, fructose and sucrose content of flag leaves of the sensitive variety was observed in drought condition [181].

4.2. Heading date and Flowering time

Normally, wheat plants enter the boot stage in five days after the flag leaf emerges, and right after the boot stage is the heading stage [182]. Heading date of a plant can be regarded as the date when the plant shows its flower. The anthers sticking out from the spikelet mark the beginning of flowering stage (anthesis). The heading date in wheat has been proven to be regulated by some genes which were also associated with grain weight [183].

A two-year field experiment with four wheat varieties suggested that the days to heading were significantly reduced under drought stress. Based on those results, researchers illustrated that wheat genotypes with earlier heading and flowering dates may have a better chance to partially escape from drought and complete their life to reproduce the next generation before getting dehydrated [184]. In a field trial with a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population, researchers detected a QTL for days to heading on chromosome 7D and this QTL was further validated in a drought trial [185]. By conducting Pearson's correlation analysis, scientists also found that the days to heading were significantly correlated with days to maturity, plant height, spike length, and spikelet per spike under drought stress [186].

For flowering date, a similar theory with heading date was proposed that early flowering can be regarded as a favorable trait to better adapt the drought by escaping and minimizing the exposure to the stress [187]. As one of drought tolerance indices, in 2002, the flowering date was reported to be strongly negatively correlated with yield in wheat under drought stress [188]. On the contrary, another study in 2014 revealed that the number of days to flowering was significantly positively correlated with grain yield per plant in wheat in a dry environment [189]. Therefore, the strong correlation between flowering time and grain yield in wheat has been generally accepted, however, more carefully-designed studies are needed to figure out whether the correlation is positive or negative.

4.3. Canopy temperature

With the development of remote-sensing technique, canopy temperature has been introduced as an effective index into wheat yield estimates [190]. Remotely sensed canopy temperature was also reported to be a powerful indicator in screening for drought-tolerant wheat genotypes due to its correlation with leaf water potentials under moisture stress. Researchers found that lower canopy temperatures were accompanied by higher leaf water potentials [191]. It is not difficult to learn that a leaf temperature depressed below air temperature is because of the water evaporation from leaves. That is why canopy temperature can also be considered as an indirect measure of the transpiration in wheat [192]. Wheat plants exposed to drought stress were found to display higher canopy temperatures compared to those in optimum condition [193]. Results of a 2-year field trial revealed a positive correlation between drought-susceptibility index and canopy temperatures, suggesting that drought-susceptible wheat genotypes had warmer canopies at midday [40]. Furthermore, another study on spring wheat observed

strong correlations between canopy temperature and yield in drought conditions [194]. The canopy temperature depression value was also found to be valuable to efficiently predict grain yield and water stress in wheat [195].

Apparently, the canopy temperature measurement is a cheap, fast, and non-destructive process. Since traits of roots in the soil are difficult to measure, scientists studied the possibility of using another aboveground trait as an indicator. The canopy temperature was found to be linked to the ability of roots to extract water from the soil, which was also proven to be associated with yield under drought in wheat [84]. In addition, another study confirmed the conclusion that cooler canopy temperature was associated with optimized root distribution for better water extraction in stressed wheat [196]. Moreover, the biomass of wheat was also reported to be correlated with canopy temperature depression in dry land [197]. In terms of genetics, two QTLs associated with both yield and canopy temperature depression were detected on chromosome 3BL and 5DL. Interestingly, the QTL located on 3BL was also pleiotropic for biomass [198]. In another study, a QTL located on chromosome 3B was detected and proven to have a large effect on canopy temperature and grain yield. [49].

4.4. Number of tillers, Number of spikes and Number of grains

Tillers can be described as additional stems that develop from the main shoot of the plant. Number of tillers in wheat is an easily measurable parameter. Tillering patterns determines the number of heads per acre which is an important yield component in spring wheat [199]. In a field experiment conducted under rainfed conditions with ten drought-tolerant wheat breeding lines, several traits were observed to be significantly and positively correlated with grain yield. Among those traits, tillers per plant displayed the highest positive effect on grain yield [200]. However, single culm was suggested as a favorable trait of wheat ideotype. The concept proposed earlier was that fewer tillers would be helpful to reduce the competition between the developing spikes so that the plant can invest more in the growth of each spike [201]. In a modern study, comparing conventional cultivars with freely tillering cultivars, scientists recorded a 6% yield increase in wheat lines containing a tiller inhibition (*tin*) gene in drought conditions [202]. They also confirmed that the reduced number of tillers would be an advantageous trait for wheat to cope with terminal drought.

In terms of spikes, a spike of wheat, also called the ear, consists of a central stem with tightly packed rows of flowers growing on it. It is also where the edible grains grow. The direct effect of number of spikes/m2 on grain yield of wheat under drought stress was found to be significantly positive [203]. Furthermore, results of a study revealed that number of spikes/m² was an effective parameter affecting grain yield. It was suggested that selecting wheat materials with high number of spikes/m² could be beneficial to develop varieties with high yield under drought conditions [204]. In another experiment

with sixteen advanced wheat lines, a genotypic correlation between spikes/m2 and grain yield under a late drought regime was reported.

The number of grains per spike is one of the most important yield components in wheat. Early on, a drought-induced reduction in number of grains per spike was observed in two spring wheat genotypes [205]. Subsequently, a field experiment conducted under different moisture levels demonstrated that severe drought stress could result in a significant reduction in the number of grains per spike in wheat [206]. Results of another study with fourteen durum spring wheat varieties showed a positive association between the number of grains per spike and grain yield under drought stress [207]. Furthermore, a study with 37 durum wheat varieties applying regression analysis (stepwise method) also indicated that the number of grains per spike had a positive effect on yield in drought conditions [208].

4.5. Roots

Root traits include root length, root elongation rate, root distribution at depth, root to shoot dry matter ratio, emergence angle, tip angle, root biomass and root count [80, 209-211]. The root system determines the water use efficiency (WUE) of a plant. It was reported that the soil moisture capture ability in root is a major factor influencing crop yield in water-limited conditions [212]. The roots distribution in soil has been proven to be influential in grain yield in wheat under drought conditions. Scientists found that a wheat variety with less grain yield reduction under drought stress tended to develop more deep roots (below 30 cm) than the same wheat variety in well-watered conditions [213]. A reasonable explanation is that the upper layer of the soil always loses its moisture first when drought occurs so developing longer roots is advantageous for plants to reach the water in subsoil. It is also widely accepted that the root system is closely related to the grain yield in wheat [84, 213]. By conducting a simulation analysis with a modeling technique in Australian dry environments, it was estimated that the absorption of each additional millimeter of water by the root system during grain filling stage could produce an additional 55 kg/ha of grain in wheat [76].

A big variation was found in the growth angle of seminal roots among different wheat varieties [214]. Similarly, a significant difference was also found in the root length among different varieties [215]. It was also observed that wheat varieties with a deep root system showed a narrower angle of seminal roots, while varieties with a shallower root system tended to develop their seminal roots with a wide-angle [214]. Likewise, another study described a significant genetic variation in the growth angle of seminal roots among different wheat varieties. Besides, they also reported the lack of correlation between the growth angle and number of seminal roots [216]. In another study, scientists observed a positive correlation between grain yield and root biomass under terminal drought. Comparing to other genotypes, they further observed a less grain yield reduction in a wheat genotype which developed more

roots under drought stress. These results suggested that wheat genotypes with a longer root system tend to have a more stable grain yield under drought stress [213].

5. Genome-wide Association Study (GWAS)

5.1. What is GWAS

5.1.1. Genetic makers

With the development of new technologies, plant breeding has come into a new era due to emergence of the revolutionary molecular breeding. Molecular breeding comprises two major areas, the transgenic crops and the molecular marker technology. In Molecular marker technology, SNPs are the third generation molecular markers. The term SNP is the abbreviation for single-nucleotide polymorphism, which describes a substitution of a single nucleotide at a certain position in the genome. With the development of modern DNA microarray technology, simultaneously analyzing thousands of SNP markers can be conducted in an efficient and cost-effective way [217]. Significant efforts towards large-scale SNP discovery have begun in the end of the twentieth century [218]. However, most of the early studies were conducted in the human genome. Fortunately, plant molecular biologists began to notice the existence of SNPs and saw the potential of extensive use of SNP maps in plants soon [219]. In rice, an SNP marker was found to be linked to the fragrance gene (*fgr*) [220]. Furthermore, by using a modified allele-specific PCR method, scientists developed abundant SNP markers in *Piz* and *Piz-t* genes, which were proven to be correlated to blast resistance in rice [221].

Compared to other plant species, wheat has a very large genome size [222], which is seven times the genome size of maize and 40 times the genome size of rice (Figure 4) [222-227]. Therefore, the use of molecular markers developed less smoothly than in rice. Initially, scientists introduced the first generation molecular markers, RFLP (Restriction fragment length polymorphisms) technology, to wheat breeding. However, RFLP has not been widely used for segregation analysis in wheat breeding for its low polymorphism in wheat breeding materials [228]. Then the second generation molecular markers arose and the most typical one is the microsatellite or SSR markers. The second generation molecular markers have then been dominant in wheat genetic studies for more than ten years [229-231]. At the advent of the third generation molecular markers, SNP markers started to take over the SSR makers' place. Already at the early stage, breeders realized the potential of SNP markers using the complexity reduction of polymorphic sequences (CRoPS®) technology. Totally, 275 of those SNPs were found highly robust and uniformly distributed across the wheat genome [232]. While studying 172 elite European winter wheat lines, scientists found a difference between results of population structure and genetic relatedness obtained with SNP and SSR markers. They suggested that it would be beneficial

to increase the number of SNP markers so that a higher coverage of the chromosomes could be obtained [233]. When studying a wheat stem rust resistance gene *SrCad*, scientists identified 27 SNP markers located closely to *SrCad*. By evaluating the diagnostic potential of these SNPs, they found four SNP markers completely predictive of the presence or absence of *SrCad* [234]. In addition, this research group also identified six highly predictive SNP markers linked to the wheat leaf rust resistance gene Lr16 [235]. In another study, scientists identified SNP markers which can be used to distinguish two low-molecular-weight glutenin subunits (LMW-GS) genes Glu-D3 and Glu-B3 in bread wheat [236].



Fig. 4. Comparison of genome sizes of different plant species

5.1.2. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) decay

Linkage disequilibrium refers to a nonrandom association of alleles at different loci. It represents a tendency of alleles to be transmitted together more or less often than expected by chance alone [237]. Theoretically, alleles located on separate chromosomes get sorted into gametes independently of one another due to independent chromosome segregation. When it comes to two alleles located on the same chromosome, because of crossing over in meiosis, the frequency of alleles inherited from one parent in a given population should have the same value as the alleles at each locus were combined at random, which is also called linkage equilibrium. However, alleles on the same chromosome do not always separate randomly when they are close enough to each other. Therefore, close proximity is the cause of linkage disequilibrium.

The essence of GWAS (Genome-wide association study) is a marker-based study of associations between a genome-wide set of genetic variants in a population and a trait. Once markers significantly associated with variation of the trait are detected, the physical locations of the loci on chromosomes can be identified. To determine the screening range of candidate genes, the coefficient of LD and LD decay distance need to be introduced. The coefficient of LD describes the correlation between a specific pair of alleles [237]. The closer two alleles the higher value of the coefficient. When the value reaches 1, it represents that the pair of alleles are fully associated. By examining the coefficient of LD of bread wheat and durum wheat populations, researchers successfully compared two population structures and clustered wheat materials into different subpopulations [238]. The LD decay distance refers to the physical distance between any two alleles when their coefficient decays to a certain value. In other words, with the increase of the physical distance between a pair of alleles, the corresponding coefficient of LD decays. Once the coefficient drops below a certain threshold value, there is a corresponding threshold distance, which differs in different species. In wheat, results of a study based on 172 European winter genotypes suggested that LD decayed within approximately 5-10 cM [233]. In another study on 250 bread wheat accessions, LD decay distances of below 5 cM and 5-10 cM were identified in landraces and modern varieties respectively [239]. The conclusion can be made that any two loci with a distance greater than this threshold distance are not associated. Therefore, by calculating the physical distance between detected markers and candidate genes, scientists can determine whether a candidate gene is associated with the marker.

5.1.3. Phenotypic data

The term phenotype used in genetics refers to the observable characteristics of an organism. These characteristics include the organism's appearance, development and behavior. In association study, traits measured across the whole population are considered as the phenotypic data. Good phenotypic diversity brings the data considerable phenotypic variation, which is the key of the ideal phenotypic data in GWAS.

In wheat, an association study used seminal axis root length, seminal root length, root diameter, branched root length, and dry root matter as the phenotypic data. With the detected markers associated with the phenotypic data, scientists identified multiple proteins with different functions for those traits [240]. In a series of wheat field trials carried out for GWAS, researchers included the heading date, plant height and other three yield component related traits as the phenotypic data. Ninety-seven chromosome regions were identified to be associated with those traits [241].

5.1.4. Genotypic data

Genotyping is a process of determining genetic differences among lines by examining the individual's DNA sequence and comparing it to another individual's sequence. As mentioned above, based on the polymorphic SNP markers physically anchored to the genome assembly, the GWAS can identify chromosome regions affecting crop adaptation in combination with phenotypic data.

In wheat, the complexity of its genome used to be the greatest obstacle in developing stress adaptation improved varieties. The international wheat genome sequencing consortium (IWGSC) was established in 2005 with the aim of sequencing the genome of wheat. It took 13 years for scientists to finally map the massive wheat genome [242]. In 2018, the release of the annotated reference sequence of wheat marked a new chapter in wheat genotyping.

In general, genotyping consists of two phases, a polymorphism discovery phase and a genotyping phase. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) has been widely applied in sequencing the genomes of multiple genotypes of the same species to identify sequence polymorphisms such as SNPs [243, 244]. In the genotyping phase, large number of samples can be genotyped using a more cost-effective method such as high-density SNP-genotyping arrays [245]. However, the whole-genome sequencing in species with a large and complex genome was still costly in the last decade. In order to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of the process, sequencing of restriction site-associated genomic DNA (RAD) and genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) were introduced to the genotyping workflow [246, 247]. The GBS has been widely used to derive the genotypic data of durum and bread wheat [248-250].

5.2. The role of GWAS for drought stress research

As drought tolerance is controlled by multiple interacting genes [251, 252], it is not easy to study the drought tolerance of a crop directly but the crop's response to drought stress can be reflected in variations of target traits under drought conditions. Thus, investigating the traits under drought stress in combination with studying the crop's genome can be a promising entry point to identify candidate genes associated with its drought response. Furthermore, the drought tolerance of a crop can be evaluated based on the way it responds to drought stress.

By studying a barley population under drought stress, scientists detected 2 stable QTLs for internode length and flag leaf length with association study [253]. Furthermore, two candidate genes correlated to spikelet number and grain number per spike under drought stress were identified using 121 barley accessions and a 9K SNPs chip [254]. Using the survival rate as an indicator of drought tolerance in GWAS analysis, researchers identified the gene *ZmVPP1* contributing to drought tolerance in maize seedlings [255]. In another GWAS analysis on 209 maize accessions, 62 loci for seminal root length were revealed for two water treatments [256]. By investigating 7 traits including final grain yield, total

number of ears per plot, kernel number per row, plant height, anthesis-silking interval, days to anthesis, and days to silking under water-stressed and well-watered regimes, researchers identified 115 candidate genes correlated to the variations of these traits under drought in maize [257]. With the development of new phenotyping approaches, scientists introduced a non-destructive phenotyping facility to GWAS. Fifty-one image-based digital traits (i-traits) for 507 rice accessions were derived. The gene OsPP15 was identified to be correlated to drought tolerance in rice [251]. Moreover, based on the knowledge that the grain yield of rice can be used as a selection criterion under reproductive-stage drought [258], a GWAS analysis for yield performance of rice under drought stress resulted in 50 genes identified and 30 of them were annotated [259]. Another group focused on the root traits of rice. By performing a GWAS analysis on 21 root traits under normal and drought stress, they detected 143 significant associations and identified 11 reported root-related genes co-located with the association loci [260]. In sorghum, researchers utilized an aerial drone to measure the biomass, plant height, and leaf area of 648 lines under drought treatments. Multiple candidate genes were identified in GWAS analysis [261]. In pea, researchers investigated the onset of flowering and grain yield under terminal drought. A big number of markers associated with high yield and early flowering were detected in GWAS analysis [262]. In industrial crop sesame, by performing GWAS to 490 accessions, scientists detected 130 significant SNPs for drought stress. A total of 13 potential candidate genes coding transcription factors, antioxidative enzymes, osmoprotectants and involved in hormonal biosynthesis, signal transduction or ion sequestration were identified for drought tolerance [263]. In another industrial crop cotton, scientists introduced an automatic phenotyping platform (APP) for measuring 119 i-traits as the phenotypic data under drought stress. Results of GWAS on 56 morphological and 63 texture digital traits identified four drought-related genes as the candidate genes [264]. Another group of scientists utilized hydroponics to study 7 traits of 306 upland cotton accessions. Drought treatment was performed using Polyethylene glycol 6000 (PEG 6000). By combining results of GWAS, RNA-seq and qRT-PCR verification, 4 candidate genes were identified to be potentially important for drought tolerance in cotton [265].

5.3. GWAS applied in wheat research

With the advances in new sequencing technology in recent years, high-quality genome data can be provided for breeders [266, 267]. Different high throughput SNP arrays including 35K [268], 90K [269], 660K [270], and 820K [271] have been developed for wheat research. These SNP arrays have been successfully used to map multiple traits with diverse wheat populations while the most widely adopted is the 90K SNP array. It has been used for GWAS in European winter and spring wheat [272], CIMMYT spring wheat [273], United States elite wheat breeding genotypes [274], and Chinese bread wheat cultivars [275].

For studying the genetic bases of important traits under water-limited conditions, the powerful tool GWAS has been widely adopted in wheat research recently. Several QTLs for drought-related traits

were successfully identified on different chromosomes through GWAS [276]. In a 2-year field trial, researchers observed a 60% mean yield reduction of a durum panel under drought stress and further identified a large number of significant marker-trait associations on chromosome 2A and 2B by performing GWAS [277]. Besides, researchers identified 14 drought-related candidate genes with 493 durum wheat accessions. Based on their GWAS results in combination with previous reports, they confirmed the presence of a drought tolerance related QTL in a region on chromosome 4B [278]. In a study with 210 elite European bread wheat varieties under different water stresses, scientists detected a total of 590 QTLs (126, 238, and 226 on A, B, and D genomes respectively) through GWAS analysis [279]. In another study, scientists investigated 5 traits of elite bread wheat lines in irrigated and drought stress environments. Significant associations on 4A, 2D, 3B, and 3A were identified for yield, spike length, 1000-kernel weight, and kernel abortion respectively. Likewise, associations for the number of grains per spike were identified on chromosome 6B and 3A [280]. Furthermore, scientists phenotyped a bread wheat panel for days to heading, days to maturity, shoot biomass, root biomass, root to shoot ratio and grain yield. GWAS analysis identified 37 marker-trait associations in drought conditions [281]. A GWAS analysis on 645 Chinese wheat landraces revealed 29 QTLs for eight traits under drought conditions. On the basis of these markers, 21 candidate genes were identified for drought response and four of them were validated by qRT-PCR [282]. To study the drought tolerance of wheat, researchers also adopted drought tolerance indices which were calculated based on grain yield, 1000-kernel weight, and the number of kernels per spike. GWAS analyses identified a total of 175 SNPs associated with at least one drought tolerance index. [283]. Most associations from this study were further located on chromosome 4A, which is consistent with the hypothesis from several previous QTL analyses that chromosome 4A plays a crucial role in drought tolerance [284-286]. In a study on synthetic hexaploid wheat, scientists identified a total of 194 marker-trait associations, and 90 of these were novel (45, 11, and 34 on the A, B, and D genomes respectively). Forty-five of these associations were further found in genes annotated as having a potential role in drought stress [287]. At the micro-level, cell membrane stability has been reported to be related to drought tolerance in wheat [288]. By performing GWAS to the cell membrane stability data of 2111 spring wheat accessions treated with PEG, a total of 20 significant SNPs were detected. In addition, the linked candidate genes were found to be involved in transporting solutes through the cell membrane or generally involved in abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms [289].

6. Further studies on candidate genes associated with drought stress

After identifying potential candidate genes by association study, some further studies are needed to validate the roles of the candidate genes from different aspects. Nowadays there are multiple methods of verifying the function of candidate genes.

6.1. RNA interference

To study the physiological role of the gene product, researchers can exploit RNA interference (RNAi) technique in further study. Once the double-stranded RNA synthesized with a sequence complementary to a gene of interest is introduced into a cell or organism, it could be recognized as exogenous genetic material and activate the RNAi pathway. Under this mechanism, the expression of the target gene could be drastically decreased so that scientists can observe the phenotypic difference between normal samples and gene-knockdown samples [290]. The first use of gene silencing via RNAi technology in plants was reported in a study on flower identity genes in arabidopsis. They successfully inhibited the mRNA level of a gene AGAMOUS and further proved the ability of RNAi to selectively reduce gene function in A. thaliana [291]. In wheat, scientists investigated the function of gene TaGW2 using RNAi. Significant decreases in grain size and number of endosperm cells were observed in transgenic lines compared with the controls. Thus, the grain-size-regulating function of the gene TaGW2 was verified and they further speculated that the grain size was regulated by TaGW2 controlling the number of endosperm cells [292]. In a study on wheat under drought stress, scientists investigated the function of a gene TaBZR2, which encodes transcription factors belonging to the brassinazole-resistant (BZR) family. A significantly elevated drought sensitivity was observed in transgenic lines, whose TaBZR2 was downregulated by RNA interference. Interestingly, they also constructed overexpressor (OX) lines and observed lower levels of ROS in drought-treated TaBZR2-OX lines than the wild type. Through RNA sequencing analysis of those OX lines, they found the drought stress induced the expression of TaGST1, which is thought to encode a reactive oxygen species-scavenging enzyme. Moreover, the results of their conducted electrophoretic mobility shift assay and luciferase reporter analysis indicated that TaBZR2 bound to the promoter of TaGST1 [293]. In another study, to verify the function of a dehydrin gene WZY2, scientists used PEG to create osmotic stress to wheat plants. Combining RNA interference and real-time PCR, they found that plants with an inhibited expression of WZY2 showed a lower relative water content, oxidative-related enzyme activities, and higher malondialdehyde (MDA) content than wild types [294].

6.2. Virus-induced genes silencing

Virus-induced genes silencing (VIGS) is another powerful genetic tool for plant genes function study. With this technique, scientists can trigger a targeted gene transcript suppression by infecting the plant with a viral delivery vector carrying a short sequence of the target gene [295]. It is based on a natural post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) defense mechanism that is developed to protect plants from virus infection [296]. The VIGS was first used to describe a phenomenon that tobacco plants can recover from virus infection and further develop a resistance to the virus [297]. The major advantage of VIGS is that it is very rapid and cost-effective and has a moderately high throughput compared with RNAi. Scientists quickly realized the potential of VIGS as an efficient tool for the study of gene function when

they found that it allowed the targeted downregulation of a particular gene [298]. Early on, many vectors for use in VIGS were based on the model RNA virus, tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) [299]. Thus, this technique was usually performed in a virus-susceptible tobacco species *N. benthamiana* in early studies. To overcome the limitation of host range and meristem exclusion, scientists have made substantial efforts for developing new vectors. One of the famous VIGS vectors developed later is based on the tobacco rattle virus (TRV), which can efficiently spread throughout the entire plant. The only drawback of TRV was its mild symptoms of infection. This flaw was resolved soon with the advent of improved TRV vectors named pYL156 and pYL279 [300, 301] that were successfully used for silencing endogenous genes in tomato and other species [302, 303]. In wheat, researchers have reported the use of barley stripe mosaic virus (BSMV) as the vector to perform VIGS could efficiently silence a leaf rust resistance gene [304]. The BSMV-VIGS system was also used to study wheat stripe rust resistance. By silencing two heat shock protein genes TaHsp90.2 and TaHsp90.3, scientists observed increased numerous rust sori on the leaves [305]. Another disease studied with BSMV-VIGS is wheat powdery mildew. The experiment was based on the knowledge that Calcium-dependent protein kinases (CPKs) are playing important role in plant complex immune and stress signaling networks. After downregulating a corresponding gene, TaCPK2-A, by performing VIGS, scientists observed loss of resistance to powdery mildew in resistant wheat lines [306]. In addition, VIGS has also been widely employed in functional validation of potential drought-responsive genes in wheat. In a study, scientists successfully verified the functions of two genes under drought stress. They performed VIGS to wheat plants and significant reductions in transcripts of Era1 (enhanced response to abscisic acid) and Sal1 (inositol polyphosphate 1-phosphatase) were confirmed by the results of qRT-PCR. Those VIGStreated wheat plants exhibited increased relative water content, improved water use efficiency, inhibited gas exchange, and improved vigor compared to plants in the control group under drought stress [307]. Similarly, another study adopting VIGS also provided concrete evidence to support the vital droughtrelated roles of two candidate genes in wheat. After knocking down TaDrSR1 and TaDrSR2 by performing VIGS, scientists observed significant increases in relative electrolyte leakage rate, malonaldehyde content, and reductions in relative water content, and proline content in VIGS-treated plants under drought stress [308]. The function of a gene encoding a wheat ERF transcription factor, TaERF3, was thoroughly examined by gene overexpression and silencing approaches. In terms of gene silence, scientists chose VIGS to silence TaERF3. TaRTF3-silencing wheat lines were generated and subjected to salt and drought stresses. Those *TaRTF3*-silencing lines showed a lower survival rate than did the control plants [309]. Researchers also investigated the function of a gene, TaH2B-7D, belonging to a wheat histone H2B family. They utilized VIGS to generate TaH2B-7D knockdown plants that displayed lower relative water content and proline content compared with control plants under drought stress. Moreover, those VIGS-treated plants showed observable sagging, wilting and dwarf phenotypes in drought conditions [310].

6.3. Gene overexpression

Another powerful genetic tool to study the function of target genes is overexpression. The popularity of overexpression as a screening tool started in the molecular genetics era shortly after the arising of yeast transformation techniques [311, 312]. Overexpression screens were confined to perform in yeast because of stable maintenance and easy recovery of 2µ vector-based plasmids. With the advent of some conceptually analogous overexpression screens using sib selection of expressed cDNA library clones in Xenopus [313], or transposon-based overexpression collections in Drosophila [314] and Arabidopsis [315]. Overexpression has grown into a viable research option in multiple organisms. In wheat, overexpression has been successfully exploited to study the functions of several genes, including a sharp eyespot related gene, *TiERF1*, from *Thinopyrum intermedium* [316], a high molecular weight (HMW) gene [317], and some fusarium head blight (FHB) related genes [318]. Additionally, by cloning the aquaporin gene TaAOP7 from wheat and transferring it to tobacco, scientists observed increases in drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco lines with TaAQP7 overexpressed [319]. Similarly, scientists also transferred another wheat aquaporin gene TaAQP8 to tobacco. The roots of transgenic lines overexpressing TaAQP8 displayed increased root length, higher K⁺/Na⁺ ratio, Ca²⁺ content, enhanced SOD, CAT, and POD activities under salt stress [320]. A wheat gene TaNAC2a's role was also verified in tobacco. Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing TaNAC2a displayed higher fresh weight and dry weight under drought stress [150]. In another study, researchers transferred two genes TNHX1 and TVP1 encoding wheat vacuolar transporters to arabidopsis plants. Transgenic plants overexpressing those two genes exhibited better salt and drought tolerance than wild types due to their increased vacuolar solute accumulation and water retention [154]. In order to study the function of a wheat abiotic-stress-related gene, TaSnRK2.8, scientists cloned and transferred it to arabidopsis. Enhanced drought tolerance in transgenic lines overexpressing TaSnRK2.8 was evidenced by longer primary roots, higher relative water content, better cell membrane stability, lower osmotic potential, elevated chlorophyll content and enhanced PSII activity [321]. In addition to verify the function of wheat genes in tobacco or arabidopsis, researchers can also create gene overexpression in wheat lines. Scientists successfully made TaNAC69-1 expression constructs by inserting the coding region of TaNAC69-1 between a barley promoter and rice rbcS 3' in pSP72 vector. The transgenic wheat plants overexpressing TaNAC69 showed more shoot biomass, root biomass, and increased root length under drought stress [322]. TaRNAC1 is another member of the NAC transcription factors family. Researchers developed TaRNAC1-overexpressing wheat lines using a predominantly root-expressed promoter. They found that transgenic lines could produce more aboveground biomass and grains under PEG treatment than wild type plants [149]. Another research group generated TaWRKY2-overexpressing transgenic wheat lines. By comparing with wild type plants, they observed a higher survival rate and lower water loss rate of detached leaves in transgenic lines after drought treatments at three leaves stage. Moreover, after 20-25 days of drought treatment, increased grain yield was identified in transgenic lines in comparison with wild type plants

at maturity [323]. In the WRKY transcription factors family, another gene from Arabidopsis (*AtWRKY30*) was also reported to be associated with heat and drought tolerance. To verify its function, scientists generated the overexpression of *AtWRKY30* in wheat plants. In transgenic wheat lines, they found multiple enhanced physiological parameters including biomass, gas-exchange attributes, chlorophyll content, relative water content, prolines content, soluble proteins content, soluble sugars content, and antioxidant enzymes activities. Noticeably, the expression level of a number of antioxidant enzyme-encoding genes and stress-responsive genes including *ERF5a*, *DREB1*, *DREB3*, *WRKY19*, *TIP2*, and *AQP7*, were detected to be induced in *AtWRKY30*-overexpressing wheat lines [324].

7. Challenges, Hypothesis and Perspectives

Looking at the efforts of scientists in plant drought tolerance study over these decades, our understanding of the drought-responsive mechanism has progressed a lot. With the development of numerous novel technologies, researchers are allowed to combine their results of morphological changes of wheat plants with new studies on the genetic character of the entire panel. However, there are still some obstacles standing between scientific research and realistic improvement in wheat drought tolerance.

Drought is a term we used to describe a regional environment with prolonged shortages in the water supply. Severe drought can further influence the local ecosystem and agriculture. It is mainly caused by below-normal precipitation. The lack of adequate rainfall can significantly affect crop production and further lead to a potential food crisis [325]. However, drought condition is not as simple as it seems. There are always connections between drought and other abiotic stresses. For instance, heat can also cause a reduction in soil moisture because high temperature accelerates the evaporation of water. Therefore, it is important for researchers to study drought stress in conjunction with heat stress [23]. In addition, salt stress in the soil can lead to similar osmotic pressure to drought stress. It is also important to take salt stress into account when investigating drought tolerance [326]. But in respect of scientific research, it is not recommended to introduce too many factors to a single experiment as it makes it difficult for researchers to conclude the effect of each factor on the result.

Another challenge lies in the complexity of plants' response to drought stress. As mentioned in section 3.1, when exposed to water deficit condition, plants have two different mechanisms to combat the stress, drought avoidance and dehydration tolerance [125]. Moreover, plants' responses to drought stress can be affected by multiple factors such as plant genotype, growth stage, severity and duration of stress, mixtures of drought and other natural abiotic stresses, different patterns of the activity of respiration [69]. It is not difficult to predict that the responses of wheat plants to drought stresses in different periods can be dramatically different. For instance, plants treated with drought stress at their early stage still have a theoretical chance to adjust their growth period to avoid exposing critical growth stages under

stress. However, plants suffering the stress at a late stage can only count on their dehydration tolerance. Thus, the timing of the drought treatment is crucial throughout the entire experiment.

As the root system is in direct contact with soil, this hidden part of the plant usually responds to reduced soil moisture actively. Larger root biomass grants the plant better water use efficiency under drought stress. The root biomass of wheat has also been reported to be correlated with final grain yield under water deficit [327]. Therefore, studying the root traits is crucial to evaluate the plant's drought tolerance. Additionally, combining wheat root parameters with above-ground traits can be of great interest in stress adaptation analysis.

However, as mentioned before, the root system is a hidden part of the plant. It is not easy to observe or measure any parameters at maturity as getting rid of the soil without damaging the roots is scarcely possible. The loss of any single root can lead to a great error on root traits such as root length and root biomass. Thus, the most suitable approach for root assay is the hydroponic culture. Scientists can easily measure and compare the root traits of different genotypes. It is even feasible to observe and record the growth parameters of roots every day. The disadvantage of growing wheat plants in water is also very sharp, which lies in the difficulty of imposing drought stress on plants. Even though scientists have successfully applied PEG-induced drought stress to water cultured wheat plants, there are still some remaining obstacles to overcome [328]. It is not possible to fully simulate natural drought by adding a chemical to the solution. Adding PEG to the nutrient solution is in fact inducing a higher osmotic potential which is similar to the soil water osmotic potential in drought condition. It affects roots water uptake in the same way as water-limited soil. But natural drought is a slow process which means that the soil moisture reduces gradually when precipitation decreases. On the contrary, the osmotic potential changes immediately after adding the PEG. It can further cause a greater shock on seedlings than the natural drought does and so far it is not clear whether this will activate other response mechanisms in plants. Another drawback is that wheat plants cannot grow to maturity under hydroponic conditions. It means that researchers are only allowed to investigate root responses under early drought stress. To see the correlation between root traits and final grain yield, scientists have to carry out one additional soilcultured trial. Plant's behavior at early stages does not reflect its drought tolerance throughout the entire growth period due to the lack of critical root developmental detail.

In recent decades, researchers have always been seeking an optimal approach to investigate root-soil interactions with damaging the roots. Fortunately, with the profound advancement of technology exchange between scientists in different domains, plant scientists realized to adopt X-Ray computed tomography (X-Ray CT) as a non-invasive way to study plant-soil interactions [329, 330]. Subsequently, researchers went one step further rapidly in this field. They found neutron imaging (NI) could effectively visualize the root architecture in soil [331]. NI technology has been successfully exploited to capture water movement between root and soil [332]. Early plant experiments with NI mainly

adopted 2-dimensional neutron radiography (NR) to study the root structure properties in situ [333, 334]. Later on, the neutron computed tomography (NCT) was introduced as another powerful tool to study root-soil water dynamics with even more detailed 3D visualization of the root system compared to NR. The NCT has been utilized to map 3D wheat root architecture under drought stress and successfully monitor soil water distribution after the short drought treatment [335].

The expression of genes in plants has been proven to be influenced by drought stress. Therefore, the detection of genes during stress is crucial to study plants' drought-tolerant mechanisms at molecular level [123]. However, as described in section 5.1.1, wheat has a very large genome size estimated at approximately 17 Gb in accordance with IWGSC's announcement. The genome sizes of maize and rice, the other two of the world three major cereal crops, are only one-seventh and one-fortieth of that of wheat respectively [224, 226]. Furthermore, plants' tolerance to drought stress is a complex trait regulated by multiple genes and each gene contributes differentially to this trait [124]. To thoroughly dissect the wheat plant's drought tolerance at the genetic level, researchers should not ignore those minor genes when trying to identify the major genes. One of the inspiring news is that through the unremitting efforts and cooperation of scientists from all over the world, the massive wheat genome was finally mapped in 2018 [242]. Researchers have finally been allowed to conduct the whole-genome scan for candidate genes.

8. References

- 1. Shiferaw B, Smale M, Braun H-J, Duveiller E, Reynolds M, Muricho G: **Crops that feed the world 10. Past successes and future challenges to the role played by wheat in global food security**. *Food Security* 2013, **5**(3):291-317.
- 2. Lobell DB, Gourdji SM: **The influence of climate change on global crop productivity**. *Plant physiology* 2012, **160**(4):1686-1697.
- 3. Datt G, Ravallion M: Farm productivity and rural poverty in India. *The Journal of Development Studies* 1998, **34**(4):62-85.
- 4. Evenson R, Rosegrant M: **The economic consequences 23 of crop genetic improvement programmes**. *Crop variety improvement and its effect on productivity: The impact of international agricultural research* 2003:473-497.
- 5. Fan S, Hazell P: **Returns to public investments in the less-favored areas of India and China**. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 2001, **83**(5):1217-1222.
- 6. Renkow M, Byerlee D: **The impacts of CGIAR research: A review of recent evidence**. *Food policy* 2010, **35**(5):391-402.
- 7. Consortium IWGS: A chromosome-based draft sequence of the hexaploid bread wheat (Triticum aestivum) genome. *Science* 2014, **345**(6194):1251788.
- 8. Black M, Bewley JD: Seed technology and its biological basis: Crc Press; 2000.
- 9. Burnett J: Brown is best. *History Today* 2005, **55**(5):52.
- 10. Kelly SA, Summerbell CD, Brynes A, Whittaker V, Frost G: **Wholegrain cereals for** coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007(2).
- 11. Aune D, Keum N, Giovannucci E, Fadnes LT, Boffetta P, Greenwood DC, Tonstad S, Vatten LJ, Riboli E, Norat T: Whole grain consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all cause and cause specific mortality: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *bmj* 2016, **353**:i2716.

- 12. Pandey R, Joshi G, Bhardwaj AR, Agarwal M, Katiyar-Agarwal S: A comprehensive genome-wide study on tissue-specific and abiotic stress-specific miRNAs in Triticum aestivum. *PLoS One* 2014, **9**(4):e95800.
- 13. Shanker AK, Maheswari M, Yadav S, Desai S, Bhanu D, Attal NB, Venkateswarlu B: **Drought stress responses in crops**. *Functional & integrative genomics* 2014, **14**(1):11-22.
- 14. Kronstad W: Genetic diversity and the free exchange of germplasm in breaking yield barriers. Increasing Yield Potential in Wheat: Breaking the barriers International Center for Maize and Wheat Improvement, Mexico, DF, Mexico 1996:19-28.
- 15. Allen MR, O.P. Dube, W. Solecki, F. Aragón-Durand, W. Cramer, S. Humphreys, M. Kainuma, J. Kala, N. Mahowald, Y. Mulugetta, R. Perez, M. Wairiu, and K. Zickfeld: Framing and Context. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)]. In.; 2018.
- 16. Passioura J: **The yield of crops in relation to drought**. *Physiology and determination of crop yield* 1994(physiologyandde):343-359.
- 17. Paulsen GM: **High temperature responses of crop plants**. *Physiology and determination of crop yield* 1994(physiologyandde):365-389.
- 18. Mittler R: Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. *Trends in plant science* 2006, **11**(1):15-19.
- 19. Rizhsky L, Liang H, Shuman J, Shulaev V, Davletova S, Mittler R: When defense pathways collide. The response of Arabidopsis to a combination of drought and heat stress. *Plant physiology* 2004, **134**(4):1683-1696.
- 20. Suzuki N, Rivero RM, Shulaev V, Blumwald E, Mittler R: Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. *New Phytologist* 2014, **203**(1):32-43.
- 21. Wang L, Zhu QK, Zhao WJ, Zhao XK: **The drought trend and its relationship with rainfall intensity in the Loess Plateau of China**. *Natural Hazards* 2015, **77**(1):479-495.
- 22. Shah N, Paulsen G: Interaction of drought and high temperature on photosynthesis and grain-filling of wheat. *Plant and Soil* 2003, **257**(1):219-226.
- 23. Nicolas ME, Gleadow RM, Dalling MJ: Effects of drought and high temperature on grain growth in wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* 1984, **11**(6):553-566.
- Craufurd P, Flower D, Peacock J: Effect of heat and drought stress on sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). I. Panicle development and leaf appearance. *Experimental Agriculture* 1993, 29(1):61-76.
- 25. Savin R, Nicolas ME: Effects of short periods of drought and high temperature on grain growth and starch accumulation of two malting barley cultivars. *Functional Plant Biology* 1996, **23**(2):201-210.
- 26. Keleş Y, Öncel I: **Response of antioxidative defence system to temperature and water stress combinations in wheat seedlings**. *Plant Science* 2002, **163**(4):783-790.
- 27. Jin R, Wang Y, Liu R, Gou J, Chan Z: **Physiological and metabolic changes of purslane** (**Portulaca oleracea L.**) in response to drought, heat, and combined stresses. *Front Plant Sci* 2016, **6**:1123.
- 28. Rollins J, Habte E, Templer S, Colby T, Schmidt J, Von Korff M: Leaf proteome alterations in the context of physiological and morphological responses to drought and heat stress in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Journal of experimental botany* 2013, **64**(11):3201-3212.
- 29. Zandalinas SI, Balfagón D, Arbona V, Gómez-Cadenas A, Inupakutika MA, Mittler R: **ABA** is required for the accumulation of **APX1** and **MBF1c** during a combination of water deficit and heat stress. *Journal of experimental botany* 2016, **67**(18):5381-5390.
- 30. Rizhsky L, Liang H, Mittler R: **The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on** gene expression in tobacco. *Plant physiology* 2002, **130**(3):1143-1151.

- 31. Zandalinas SI, Rivero RM, Martínez V, Gómez-Cadenas A, Arbona V: **Tolerance of citrus plants to the combination of high temperatures and drought is associated to the increase in transpiration modulated by a reduction in abscisic acid levels**. *BMC plant biology* 2016, **16**(1):105.
- 32. Abedi T, Pakniyat H: Antioxidant enzymes changes in response to drought stress in ten cultivars of oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.). Czech Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 2010, 46(1):27-34.
- 33. Gregorova Z, Kovacik J, Klejdus B, Maglovski M, Kuna R, Hauptvogel P, Matusikova I: Drought-induced responses of physiology, metabolites, and PR proteins in Triticum aestivum. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 2015, **63**(37):8125-8133.
- 34. Monakhova O, Chernyad'ev I: **Protective role of kartolin-4 in wheat plants exposed to soil draught**. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology* 2002, **38**(4):373-380.
- 35. Nayyar H, Gupta D: Differential sensitivity of C3 and C4 plants to water deficit stress: association with oxidative stress and antioxidants. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 2006, **58**(1-3):106-113.
- 36. Peltzer D, Dreyer E, Polle A: **Differential temperature dependencies of antioxidative enzymes in two contrasting species: Fagus sylvatica and Coleus blumei**. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 2002, **40**(2):141-150.
- 37. Rajaram S, Braun H-J, van Ginkel M: **CIMMYT's approach to breed for drought tolerance**. *Euphytica* 1996, **92**(1-2):147-153.
- 38. Ahmad R, Qadir S, Ahmad N, Shah K: Yield potential and stability of nine wheat varieties under water stress conditions. *Int J Agric Biol* 2003, **5**(1):7-9.
- 39. Smith M, Coffman W, Barker T: **Environmental effects on selection under high and low input conditions**. *Genotype-by-environment interaction and plant breeding Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA* 1990:261-272.
- 40. Blum A, Shpiler L, Golan G, Mayer J: Yield stability and canopy temperature of wheat genotypes under drought-stress. *Field Crops Research* 1989, **22**(4):289-296.
- 41. Bansal K, Sinha S: Assessment of drought resistance in 20 accessions of Triticum aestivum and related species I. Total dry matter and grain yield stability. *Euphytica* 1991, **56**(1):7-14.
- 42. Ehdaie B, Waines J, Hall A: **Differential responses of landrace and improved spring** wheat genotypes to stress environments. *Crop science* 1988, **28**(5):838-842.
- 43. Rebetzke G, Van Herwaarden A, Jenkins C, Weiss M, Lewis D, Ruuska S, Tabe L, Fettell N, Richards R: Quantitative trait loci for water-soluble carbohydrates and associations with agronomic traits in wheat. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 2008, **59**(10):891-905.
- 44. Richards R, Rawson H, Johnson D: Glaucousness in wheat: its development and effect on water-use efficiency, gas exchange and photosynthetic tissue temperatures. *Functional Plant Biology* 1986, **13**(4):465-473.
- 45. Fischer R, Maurer R: **Drought resistance in spring wheat cultivars. I. Grain yield responses**. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 1978, **29**(5):897-912.
- 46. Blum A: **Yield potential and drought resistance: are they mutually exclusive**. *Increasing yield potential in wheat: breaking the barriers'*(*Eds MP Reynolds, S Rajaram, A McNab*) *pp* 1996:90-100.
- 47. Denčić S, Kastori R, Kobiljski B, Duggan B: **Evaluation of grain yield and its components in wheat cultivars and landraces under near optimal and drought conditions**. *Euphytica* 2000, **113**(1):43-52.
- 48. Kirigwi F, Van Ginkel M, Brown-Guedira G, Gill B, Paulsen GM, Fritz A: Markers associated with a QTL for grain yield in wheat under drought. *Molecular Breeding* 2007, 20(4):401-413.
- 49. Bennett D, Reynolds M, Mullan D, Izanloo A, Kuchel H, Langridge P, Schnurbusch T: Detection of two major grain yield QTL in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) under heat, drought and high yield potential environments. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2012, **125**(7):1473-1485.
- 50. Cornell H, Hoveling AW: Wheat: chemistry and utilization: CRC press; 1998.

- 51. Ram M, Dowell FE, Seitz L, Lookhart G: **Development of standard procedures for a** simple, rapid test to determine wheat color class. *Cereal chemistry* 2002, **79**(2):230-237.
- 52. Serna-Saldivar SO: Cereal grains: laboratory reference and procedures manual: CRC Press; 2012.
- 53. Kulp K: Handbook of Cereal Science and Technology, revised and expanded: CRC Press; 2000.
- 54. Barnabás B, Jäger K, Fehér A: **The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals**. *Plant, cell & environment* 2008, **31**(1):11-38.
- 55. Nicolas ME, Gleadow RM, Dalling MJ: Effect of post-anthesis drought on cell division and starch accumulation in developing wheat grains. *Annals of Botany* 1985, **55**(3):433-444.
- 56. Jiang D, Yue H, Wollenweber B, Tan W, Mu H, Bo Y, Dai T, Jing Q, Cao W: Effects of post anthesis drought and waterlogging on accumulation of high molecular weight glutenin subunits and glutenin macropolymers content in wheat grain. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 2009, **195**(2):89-97.
- 57. Schofield J: Wheat proteins: structure and functionality in milling and breadmaking. In: *Wheat.* Springer; 1994: 73-106.
- 58. Zhao C-X, He M-R, Wang Z-L, Wang Y-F, Lin Q: Effects of different water availability at post-anthesis stage on grain nutrition and quality in strong-gluten winter wheat. *Comptes rendus biologies* 2009, **332**(8):759-764.
- 59. Balla K, Rakszegi M, Li Z, Bekes F, Bencze S, Veisz O: **Quality of winter wheat in relation to heat and drought shock after anthesis**. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences* 2011, **29**(2):117-128.
- 60. Gooding M, Ellis R, Shewry P, Schofield J: **Effects of restricted water availability and increased temperature on the grain filling, drying and quality of winter wheat**. *Journal of Cereal Science* 2003, **37**(3):295-309.
- 61. Guttieri MJ, Ahmad R, Stark JC, Souza E: End-use quality of six hard red spring wheat cultivars at different irrigation levels. *Crop Science* 2000, **40**(3):631-635.
- 62. Ozturk A, Aydin F: Effect of water stress at various growth stages on some quality characteristics of winter wheat. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 2004, **190**(2):93-99.
- 63. Saint Pierre C, Peterson C, Ross A, Ohm J, Verhoeven M, Larson M, Hoefer B: Winter wheat genotypes under different levels of nitrogen and water stress: Changes in grain protein composition. *Journal of Cereal Science* 2008, **47**(3):407-416.
- 64. Panozzo J, Eagles H: **Rate and duration of grain filling and grain nitrogen accumulation of wheat cultivars grown in different environments**. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 1999, **50**(6):1007-1016.
- 65. Begcy K, Walia H: Drought stress delays endosperm development and misregulates genes associated with cytoskeleton organization and grain quality proteins in developing wheat seeds. *Plant Science* 2015, **240**:109-119.
- 66. Ge P, Ma C, Wang S, Gao L, Li X, Guo G, Ma W, Yan Y: **Comparative proteomic analysis** of grain development in two spring wheat varieties under drought stress. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 2012, **402**(3):1297-1313.
- 67. Li Y-F, Wu Y, Hernandez-Espinosa N, Peña RJ: Heat and drought stress on durum wheat: Responses of genotypes, yield, and quality parameters. *Journal of Cereal Science* 2013, 57(3):398-404.
- 68. Guzmán C, Autrique JE, Mondal S, Singh RP, Govindan V, Morales-Dorantes A, Posadas-Romano G, Crossa J, Ammar K, Peña RJ: **Response to drought and heat stress on wheat quality, with special emphasis on bread-making quality, in durum wheat**. *Field Crops Research* 2016, **186**:157-165.
- 69. Chaves MM, Maroco JP, Pereira JS: **Understanding plant responses to drought**—from genes to the whole plant. *Functional plant biology* 2003, **30**(3):239-264.
- Ergen NZ, Thimmapuram J, Bohnert HJ, Budak H: Transcriptome pathways unique to dehydration tolerant relatives of modern wheat. Functional & integrative genomics 2009, 9(3):377-396.

- Peremarti A, Marè C, Aprile A, Roncaglia E, Cattivelli L, Villegas D, Royo C: Transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of a pale-green durum wheat mutant shows variations in photosystem components and metabolic deficiencies under drought stress. BMC Genomics 2014, 15(1):125.
- 72. Atkinson JA, Pound MP, Bennett MJ, Wells DM: **Uncovering the hidden half of plants using new advances in root phenotyping**. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 2019, **55**:1-8.
- 73. Corre-Hellou G, Brisson N, Launay M, Fustec J, Crozat Y: Effect of root depth penetration on soil nitrogen competitive interactions and dry matter production in pea-barley intercrops given different soil nitrogen supplies. *Field Crops Research* 2007, **103**(1):76-85.
- 74. Hoad S, Russell G, Lucas M, Bingham I: **The management of wheat, barley, and oat root** systems. 2001.
- 75. Hurd E: Growth of Roots of Seven Varieties of Spring Wheat at High and Low Moisture Levels 1. *Agronomy Journal* 1968, **60**(2):201-205.
- 76. Manschadi AM, Christopher J, deVoil P, Hammer GL: The role of root architectural traits in adaptation of wheat to water-limited environments. *Functional plant biology* 2006, 33(9):823-837.
- 77. Manske GG, Vlek PL: **Root architecture–wheat as a model plant**. *Plant roots: The hidden half* 2002, **3**:249-259.
- 78. O'Brien L: Genetic variability of root growth in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 1979, **30**(4):587-595.
- 79. Richards R, Passioura J: A breeding program to reduce the diameter of the major xylem vessel in the seminal roots of wheat and its effect on grain yield in rain-fed environments. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 1989, **40**(5):943-950.
- 80. Siddique K, Belford R, Tennant D: Root: shoot ratios of old and modern, tall and semidwarf wheats in a Mediterranean environment. *Plant and soil* 1990, **121**(1):89-98.
- 81. Selote DS, Khanna-Chopra R: Antioxidant response of wheat roots to drought acclimation. *Protoplasma* 2010, **245**(1):153-163.
- 82. Hurd EA: **Phenotype and drought tolerance in wheat**. *Agricultural Meteorology* 1974, **14**(1):39-55.
- 83. Lu W, Wang X, Wang F: Adaptive minirhizotron for pepper roots observation and its installation based on root system architecture traits. *Plant Methods* 2019, **15**(1):29.
- 84. Lopes MS, Reynolds MP: **Partitioning of assimilates to deeper roots is associated with cooler canopies and increased yield under drought in wheat**. *Functional Plant Biology* 2010, **37**(2):147-156.
- 85. Barraclough PB, Kuhlmann H, Weir AH: **The Effects of Prolonged Drought and Nitrogen Fertilizer on Root and Shoot Growth and Water Uptake by Winter Wheat**. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 1989, **163**(5):352-360.
- 86. Lilley J, Kirkegaard J: **Benefits of increased soil exploration by wheat roots**. *Field Crops Research* 2011, **122**(2):118-130.
- 87. Acuña TLB, Wade LJ: Root penetration ability of wheat through thin wax-layers under drought and well-watered conditions. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 2005, **56**(11):1235-1244.
- Grzesiak MT, Hordyńska N, Maksymowicz A, Grzesiak S, Szechyńska-Hebda M: Variation among spring wheat (Triticum aestivum I.) genotypes in response to the drought stress. ii—root system structure. *Plants* 2019, 8(12).
- 89. Esau K: Plant anatomy, vol. 75: LWW; 1953.
- 90. Schnyder H: **The role of carbohydrate storage and redistribution in the source sink relations of wheat and barley during grain filling—a review**. *New phytologist* 1993, **123**(2):233-245.
- 91. Wardlaw IF, Willenbrink J: Carbohydrate storage and mobilisation by the culm of wheat between heading and grain maturity: the relation to sucrose synthase and sucrose-phosphate synthase. *Functional Plant Biology* 1994, **21**(3):255-271.

- 92. Ruuska SA, Rebetzke GJ, van Herwaarden AF, Richards RA, Fettell NA, Tabe L, Jenkins CL: Genotypic variation in water-soluble carbohydrate accumulation in wheat. *Functional plant biology* 2006, **33**(9):799-809.
- 93. Housley T: Role of fructans redistributed from vegetative tissues in grain filling of wheat and barley. In: *Developments in Crop Science*. vol. 26: Elsevier; 2000: 207-221.
- 94. Willenbrink J, Bonnett G, Willenbrink S, Wardlaw I: **Changes of enzyme activities** associated with the mobilization of carbohydrate reserves (fructans) from the stem of wheat during kernel filling. *The New Phytologist* 1998, **139**(3):471-478.
- 95. Yang J, Zhang J, Wang Z, Zhu Q, Liu L: Water Deficit–Induced Senescence and Its Relationship to the Remobilization of Pre-Stored Carbon in Wheat during Grain Filling. *Agronomy Journal* 2001, **93**(1):196-206.
- 96. Aggarwal P, Sinha S: **Effect of water stress on grain growth and assimilate partitioning in two cultivars of wheat contrasting in their yield stability in a drought-environment**. *Annals of Botany* 1984, **53**(3):329-340.
- 97. Amani I, Fischer R, Reynolds M: **Evaluation of canopy temperature as a screening tool for heat tolerance in spring wheat**. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 1996, **176**(2):119-129.
- 98. Lu Z, Percy RG, Qualset CO, Zeiger E: **Stomatal conductance predicts yields in irrigated Pima cotton and bread wheat grown at high temperatures**. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 1998:453-460.
- 99. Siddique M, Hamid A, Islam M: **Drought stress effects on photosynthetic rate and leaf gas exchange of wheat**. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica* 1999, **40**.
- 100. Praba ML, Cairns J, Babu R, Lafitte H: **Identification of physiological traits underlying cultivar differences in drought tolerance in rice and wheat**. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 2009, **195**(1):30-46.
- 101. QUARRIE SA, JONES HG: Effects of Abscisic Acid and Water Stress on Development and Morphology of Wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 1977, **28**(1):192-203.
- 102. Krugman T, Chagué V, Peleg Z, Balzergue S, Just J, Korol AB, Nevo E, Saranga Y, Chalhoub B, Fahima T: Multilevel regulation and signalling processes associated with adaptation to terminal drought in wild emmer wheat. *Functional & integrative genomics* 2010, **10**(2):167-186.
- 103. EL HAFID R, SMITH DH, KARROU M, SAMIR K: **Physiological Responses of Spring Durum Wheat Cultivars to Early-season Drought in a Mediterranean Environment**. *Annals of Botany* 1998, **81**(2):363-370.
- 104. Cornic G: Drought stress inhibits photosynthesis by decreasing stomatal aperture–not by affecting ATP synthesis. *Trends in plant science* 2000, **5**(5):187-188.
- 105. Bogale A, Tesfaye K, Geleto T: Morphological and physiological attributes associated to drought tolerance of Ethiopian durum wheat genotypes under water deficit condition. *Journal of Biodiversity and Environmental Sciences* 2011, 1(2):22-36.
- Saini H, Aspinall D: Effect of water deficit on sporogenesis in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Annals of Botany* 1981, 48(5):623-633.
- 107. Saini H, Sedgley M, Aspinall D: Development anatomy in wheat of male sterility induced by heat stress, water deficit or abscisic acid. *Functional Plant Biology* 1984, 11(4):243-253.
- 108. Farooq M, Hussain M, Siddique KHM: **Drought Stress in Wheat during Flowering and Grain-filling Periods**. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 2014, **33**(4):331-349.
- 109. Farooq M, Bramley H, Palta JA, Siddique KH: **Heat stress in wheat during reproductive and grain-filling phases**. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 2011, **30**(6):491-507.
- Madani A, Rad AS, Pazoki A, Nourmohammadi G, Zarghami R: Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) grain filling and dry matter partitioning responses to source: sink modifications under postanthesis water and nitrogen deficiency. *Acta Scientiarum Agronomy* 2010, 32(1):145-151.
- 111. Dolferus R, Ji X, Richards RA: Abiotic stress and control of grain number in cereals. *Plant science* 2011, **181**(4):331-341.

- Ji X, Shiran B, Wan J, Lewis DC, Jenkins CL, Condon AG, Richards RA, Dolferus R: Importance of pre - anthesis anther sink strength for maintenance of grain number during reproductive stage water stress in wheat. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 2010, 33(6):926-942.
- 113. Jäger K, Fábián A, Barnabás B: Effect of water deficit and elevated temperature on pollen development of drought sensitive and tolerant winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) genotypes. Acta Biologica Szegediensis 2008, 52(1):67-71.
- 114. Fotovat R, Alikhani M, Valizadeh M, Mirzaei M, H Salekdeh G: A proteomics approach to discover drought tolerance proteins in wheat pollen grain at meiosis stage. *Protein and peptide letters* 2017, **24**(1):26-36.
- 115. Onyemaobi I, Liu H, Siddique KHM, Yan G: **Both Male and Female Malfunction Contributes to Yield Reduction under Water Stress during Meiosis in Bread Wheat**. *Front Plant Sci* 2017, **7**(2071).
- 116. Dong B, Zheng X, Liu H, Able JA, Yang H, Zhao H, Zhang M, Qiao Y, Wang Y, Liu M: Effects of Drought Stress on Pollen Sterility, Grain Yield, Abscisic Acid and Protective Enzymes in Two Winter Wheat Cultivars. *Front Plant Sci* 2017, **8**(1008).
- 117. Dolferus R, Powell N, Xuemei J, Ravash R, Edlington J, Oliver S, Van Dongen J, Shiran B: **The physiology of reproductive-stage abiotic stress tolerance in cereals**. In: *Molecular stress physiology of plants*. Springer; 2013: 193-216.
- 118. Ma J, Li R, Wang H, Li D, Wang X, Zhang Y, Zhen W, Duan H, Yan G, Li Y: Transcriptomics Analyses Reveal Wheat Responses to Drought Stress during Reproductive Stages under Field Conditions. Front Plant Sci 2017, 8(592).
- 119. Westgate M, Passioura J, Munns R: Water Status and ABA Content of Floral Organs in Drought-Stressed Wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* 1996, **23**(6):763-772.
- 120. Saini H, Aspinall D: Sterility in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) induced by water deficit or high temperature: possible mediation by abscisic acid. *Functional Plant Biology* 1982, 9(5):529-537.
- 121. Kimurto P, Kinyua M, Njoroge J: **Response of bread wheat genotypes to drought** simulation under a mobile rain shelter in Kenya. *African Crop Science Journal* 2003, 11(3):225-234.
- 122. Fleury D, Jefferies S, Kuchel H, Langridge P: Genetic and genomic tools to improve drought tolerance in wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2010, **61**(12):3211-3222.
- 123. Ingram J, Bartels D: **The molecular basis of dehydration tolerance in plants**. *Annual review of plant biology* 1996, **47**(1):377-403.
- 124. Maazou A-RS, Tu J, Qiu J, Liu Z: Breeding for Drought Tolerance in Maize (<i>Zea mays</i> L.). American Journal of Plant Sciences 2016, Vol.07No.14:13.
- 125. Kramer PJ, Boyer JS: Water relations of plants and soils: Academic press; 1995.
- 126. Rizza F, Badeck F, Cattivelli L, Lidestri O, Di Fonzo N, Stanca A: **Use of a water stress index to identify barley genotypes adapted to rainfed and irrigated conditions**. *Crop science* 2004, **44**(6):2127-2137.
- 127. Salekdeh GH, Siopongco J, Wade L, Ghareyazie B, Bennett J: A proteomic approach to analyzing drought-and salt-responsiveness in rice. *Field Crops Research* 2002, **76**(2-3):199-219.
- 128. Nio SA, Cawthray GR, Wade LJ, Colmer TD: **Pattern of solutes accumulated during leaf** osmotic adjustment as related to duration of water deficit for wheat at the reproductive stage. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 2011, **49**(10):1126-1137.
- 129. Loutfy N, El-Tayeb MA, Hassanen AM, Moustafa MFM, Sakuma Y, Inouhe M: **Changes in the water status and osmotic solute contents in response to drought and salicylic acid treatments in four different cultivars of wheat (Triticum aestivum)**. *Journal of Plant Research* 2012, **125**(1):173-184.
- 130. Tari I, Guóth A, Benyó D, Kovács J, Poór P, Wodala B: The roleS of ABA, reactive oxygen species and Nitric Oxide in root growth during osmotic stress in wheat: comparison of a tolerant and a sensitive variety. Acta Biologica Hungarica 2010, 61(Supplement 1):189-196.

- 131. Simova-Stoilova L, Vaseva I, Grigorova B, Demirevska K, Feller U: **Proteolytic activity and** cysteine protease expression in wheat leaves under severe soil drought and recovery. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 2010, **48**(2):200-206.
- 132. Zang Q-W, Wang C-X, Li X-Y, Guo Z-A, Jing R-L, Zhao J, Chang X-P: Isolation and characterization of a gene encoding a polyethylene glycol-induced cysteine protease in common wheat. *Journal of Biosciences* 2010, **35**(3):379-388.
- 133. Budak H, Kantar M, Yucebilgili Kurtoglu K: Drought tolerance in modern and wild wheat. *The Scientific World Journal* 2013, 2013.
- 134. Yang S, Deng X: Effects of drought stress on antioxidant enzymes in seedlings of different wheat genotypes. *Pak J Bot* 2015, **47**(1):49-56.
- 135. Nikolaeva MK, Maevskaya SN, Shugaev AG, Bukhov NG: Effect of drought on chlorophyll content and antioxidant enzyme activities in leaves of three wheat cultivars varying in productivity. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 2010, **57**(1):87-95.
- 136. Selote DS, Bharti S, Khanna-Chopra R: Drought acclimation reduces O2– accumulation and lipid peroxidation in wheat seedlings. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2004, **314**(3):724-729.
- 137. Bano A, Ullah F, Nosheen A: Role of abscisic acid and drought stress on the activities of antioxidant enzymes in wheat. *Plant, Soil and Environment* 2012, **58**(4):181-185.
- 138. Dure L, Crouch M, Harada J, Ho T-HD, Mundy J, Quatrano R, Thomas T, Sung ZR: Common amino acid sequence domains among the LEA proteins of higher plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 1989, **12**(5):475-486.
- 139. Sivamani E, Bahieldin A, Wraith JM, Al-Niemi T, Dyer WE, Ho T-HD, Qu R: Improved biomass productivity and water use efficiency under water deficit conditions in transgenic wheat constitutively expressing the barley HVA1 gene. *Plant Science* 2000, 155(1):1-9.
- 140. Ried JL, Walker-Simmons MK: Group 3 Late Embryogenesis Abundant Proteins in Desiccation-Tolerant Seedlings of Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Plant Physiology* 1993, 102(1):125-131.
- 141. Wang L, Li X, Chen S, Liu G: Enhanced drought tolerance in transgenic Leymus chinensis plants with constitutively expressed wheat TaLEA3. *Biotechnology Letters* 2009, **31**(2):313-319.
- 142. Vaseva II, Grigorova BS, Simova-Stoilova LP, Demirevska KN, Feller U: Abscisic acid and late embryogenesis abundant protein profile changes in winter wheat under progressive drought stress. *Plant Biology* 2010, **12**(5):698-707.
- 143. Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K: **TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATORY NETWORKS IN CELLULAR RESPONSES AND TOLERANCE TO DEHYDRATION AND COLD STRESSES**. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 2006, **57**(1):781-803.
- 144. Liu Q, Kasuga M, Sakuma Y, Abe H, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K: Two Transcription Factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA Binding Domain Separate Two Cellular Signal Transduction Pathways in Drought- and Low-Temperature-Responsive Gene Expression, Respectively, in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 1998, 10(8):1391-1406.
- 145. Lucas S, Durmaz E, Akpinar BA, Budak H: The drought response displayed by a DREbinding protein from Triticum dicoccoides. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 2011, 49(3):346-351.
- 146. Souer E, van Houwelingen A, Kloos D, Mol J, Koes R: **The No Apical Meristem Gene of Petunia Is Required for Pattern Formation in Embryos and Flowers and Is Expressed at Meristem and Primordia Boundaries**. *Cell* 1996, **85**(2):159-170.
- 147. Aida M, Ishida T, Fukaki H, Fujisawa H, Tasaka M: Genes involved in organ separation in Arabidopsis: an analysis of the cup-shaped cotyledon mutant. *The Plant Cell* 1997, 9(6):841-857.
- 148. Saad ASI, Li X, Li H-P, Huang T, Gao C-S, Guo M-W, Cheng W, Zhao G-Y, Liao Y-C: A rice stress-responsive NAC gene enhances tolerance of transgenic wheat to drought and salt stresses. *Plant Science* 2013, **203-204**:33-40.

- 149. Chen D, Chai S, McIntyre CL, Xue G-P: **Overexpression of a predominantly root**expressed NAC transcription factor in wheat roots enhances root length, biomass and drought tolerance. *Plant Cell Reports* 2018, **37**(2):225-237.
- 150. Tang Y, Liu M, Gao S, Zhang Z, Zhao X, Zhao C, Zhang F, Chen X: **Molecular** characterization of novel TaNAC genes in wheat and overexpression of TaNAC2a confers drought tolerance in tobacco. *Physiologia Plantarum* 2012, **144**(3):210-224.
- 151. Xia N, Zhang G, Sun Y-F, Zhu L, Xu L-S, Chen X-M, Liu B, Yu Y-T, Wang X-J, Huang L-L *et al*: **TaNAC8**, a novel NAC transcription factor gene in wheat, responds to stripe rust pathogen infection and abiotic stresses. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 2010, **74**(5):394-402.
- 152. Baloglu MC, Oz MT, Oktem HA, Yucel M: **Expression Analysis of TaNAC69-1 and TtNAMB-2, Wheat NAC Family Transcription Factor Genes Under Abiotic Stress Conditions in Durum Wheat (Triticum turgidum)**. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 2012, **30**(5):1246-1252.
- 153. Wang Y, Xu H, Zhang G, Zhu H, Zhang L, Zhang Z, Zhang C, Ma Z: **Expression and responses to dehydration and salinity stresses of V-PPase gene members in wheat**. *Journal of Genetics and Genomics* 2009, **36**(12):711-720.
- 154. Brini F, Hanin M, Mezghani I, Berkowitz GA, Masmoudi K: Overexpression of wheat Na+/H+ antiporter TNHX1 and H+-pyrophosphatase TVP1 improve salt- and droughtstress tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2007, 58(2):301-308.
- 155. Lodish H, Berk A, Kaiser CA, Krieger M, Scott MP, Bretscher A, Ploegh H, Matsudaira P: Molecular cell biology: Macmillan; 2008.
- 156. Kam J, Gresshoff P, Shorter R, Xue G-P: **Expression analysis of RING zinc finger genes** from Triticum aestivum and identification of TaRZF70 that contains four RING-H2 domains and differentially responds to water deficit between leaf and root. *Plant Science* 2007, **173**(6):650-659.
- 157. Townley-Smith T, Hurd E: **Testing and selecting for drought resistance in wheat**. *Stress physiology in crop plants* 1979, **2**:447-464.
- 158. Schmidt JW: **Drought resistance and wheat breeding**. *Agricultural Water Management* 1983, **7**(1):181-194.
- 159. Winter SR, Musick JT, Porter KB: Evaluation of Screening Techniques for Breeding Drought-Resistanct Winter Wheat. Crop Science 1988, 28(3):cropsci1988.0011183X002800030018x.
- 160. Wieczorek A: Use of biotechnology in agriculture--benefits and risks. 2003.
- 161. Gosal SS, Wani SH, Kang MS: **Biotechnology and Drought Tolerance**. Journal of Crop Improvement 2009, **23**(1):19-54.
- 162. Ashraf M: Inducing drought tolerance in plants: Recent advances. *Biotechnology Advances* 2010, **28**(1):169-183.
- 163. Verma V, Foulkes MJ, Worland AJ, Sylvester-Bradley R, Caligari PDS, Snape JW: Mapping quantitative trait loci for flag leaf senescence as a yield determinant in winter wheat under optimal and drought-stressed environments. *Euphytica* 2004, **135**(3):255-263.
- 164. Milad SI, Wahba LE, Barakat MN: **Identification of RAPD and ISSR Markers Associated** with Flag Leaf Senescence under Water-stressed Conditions in Wheat ('Triticum aestivum'L.). *Australian Journal of Crop Science* 2011, **5**(3):337.
- 165. Quarrie SA, Steed A, Calestani C, Semikhodskii A, Lebreton C, Chinoy C, Steele N, Pljevljakusić D, Waterman E, Weyen J et al: A high-density genetic map of hexaploid wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) from the cross Chinese Spring × SQ1 and its use to compare QTLs for grain yield across a range of environments. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 2005, 110(5):865-880.
- 166. James C: Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops, 2011, vol. 44: ISAAA Ithaca, NY; 2011.
- 167. Mwadzingeni L, Shimelis H, Dube E, Laing MD, Tsilo TJ: **Breeding wheat for drought** tolerance: Progress and technologies. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture* 2016, 15(5):935-943.

- 168. Jha UC, Bohra A, Singh NP: Heat stress in crop plants: its nature, impacts and integrated breeding strategies to improve heat tolerance. *Plant Breed* 2014, **133**(6):679-701.
- 169. Inoue T, Inanaga S, Sugimoto Y, An P, Eneji AE: Effect of drought on ear and flag leaf photosynthesis of two wheat cultivars differing in drought resistance. *Photosynthetica* 2004, **42**(4):559-565.
- 170. Ali M, Hussain M, Khan M, Ali Z, Zulkiffal M, Anwar J, Sabir W, Zeeshan M: Source-sink relationship between photosynthetic organs and grain yield attributes during grain filling stage in spring wheat (Triticum aestivum). *Int J Agric Biol* 2010, **12**(4):509-515.
- 171. Fischer R, Wood J: Drought resistance in spring wheat cultivars. III.* Yield associations with morpho-physiological traits. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 1979, 30(6):1001-1020.
- 172. Karamanos AJ, Papatheohari AY: Assessment of Drought Resistance of Crop Genotypes by Means of the Water Potential Index. *Crop Science* 1999, **39**(6):1792-1797.
- 173. Ali MA, Abbas A, Niaz S, Zulkiffal M, Ali S: Morpho-physiological criteria for drought tolerance in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) at seedling and post-anthesis stages. Int J Agric Biol 2009, 11(6):674-680.
- 174. Mina A, Babak R, Habibollah SL: Assessing Genetic Diversity of Rice Varieties under Drought Stress Conditions. *Notulae Scientia Biologicae* 2011, **3**(1).
- Briggs KG, Aytenfisu A: Relationships between Morphological Characters above the Flag Leaf Node and Grain Yield in Spring Wheats1. Crop Science 1980, 20(3):cropsci1980.0011183X002000030016x.
- 176. Monyo JH, Whittington WJ: Genotypic differences in flag leaf area and their contribution to grain yield in wheat. *Euphytica* 1973, **22**(3):600-606.
- 177. Chowdhry AR, Saleem M, Alam K: Relation between Flag Leaf, Yield of Grain and Yield Components in Wheat. *Experimental Agriculture* 1976, **12**(4):411-415.
- 178. Sheoran I, Luthra O, Kuhad M: Association of physiological and biochemical characters with the yield of rainfed wheat. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Science* 1986, **56**(2):71-74.
- Subhani GM, Chowdhry MA: Correlation and path coefficient analysis in bread wheat under drought stress and normal conditions. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* 2000, 3(1):72-77.
- 180. Munir M, Chowdhry M, Malik T: **Correlation studies among yield and its components in bread wheat under drought conditions**. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology* (*Pakistan*) 2007.
- 181. Saeedipour S, Moradi F: **Comparison of the drought stress responses of tolerant and sensitive wheat cultivars during grain filling: impact of invertase activity on carbon metabolism during kernel development**. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 2011, **3**(2):32.
- 182. Wise K, Johnson B, Mansfield C, Krupke C: Managing Wheat by Growth Stage. Purdue Extension Bulletin ID-422. West LaFayette, IN: Purdue University. In.; 2011.
- 183. Stelmakh AF: Genetic effects of Vrn genes on heading date and agronomic traits in bread wheat. *Euphytica* 1992, **65**(1):53-60.
- 184. Eid MH: Estimation of heritability and genetic advance of yield traits in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) under drought condition. International Journal of Genetics and Molecular Biology 2009, 1(7):115-120.
- 185. Tahmasebi S, Heidari B, Pakniyat H, McIntyre CL: **Mapping QTLs associated with** agronomic and physiological traits under terminal drought and heat stress conditions in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Genome* 2016, **60**(1):26-45.
- 186. Mwadzingeni L, Shimelis H, Tesfay S, Tsilo TJ: Screening of bread wheat genotypes for drought tolerance using phenotypic and proline analyses. *Front Plant Sci* 2016, **7**:1276.
- 187. Shavrukov Y, Kurishbayev A, Jatayev S, Shvidchenko V, Zotova L, Koekemoer F, de Groot S, Soole K, Langridge P: Early Flowering as a Drought Escape Mechanism in Plants: How Can It Aid Wheat Production? *Front Plant Sci* 2017, 8(1950).
- 188. Dodig D, Quarrie S, Stanković S, Milijić S, Denčić S: **Characterising wheat genetic** resources for responses to drought stress. In: *Proceedings of International Conference on Drought Mitigation and Prevention of Land Desertification' Bled, Slovenia: 2002.* 21-25.

- 189. El-Rawy MA, Hassan MI: Effectiveness of drought tolerance indices to identify tolerant genotypes in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology 2014, 17(4):255-266.
- 190. Idso SB, Jackson RD, Reginato RJ: **Remote-Sensing of Crop Yields**. *Science* 1977, **196**(4285):19-25.
- 191. Blum A, Mayer J, Gozlan G: **Infrared thermal sensing of plant canopies as a screening technique for dehydration avoidance in wheat**. *Field Crops Research* 1982, **5**:137-146.
- 192. Reynolds M: Application of physiology in wheat breeding: Cimmyt; 2001.
- 193. Siddique M, Hamid A, Islam M: **Drought stress effects on water relations of wheat**. *Bot Bull Acad Sin* 2000, **41**(1):35-39.
- 194. Rashid A, Stark JC, Tanveer A, Mustafa T: Use of Canopy Temperature Measurements as a Screening Tool for Drought Tolerance in Spring Wheat. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* 1999, **182**(4):231-238.
- 195. Fan T-L, Balta M, Rudd J, Payne WA: Canopy temperature depression as a potential selection criterion for drought resistance in wheat. Agricultural Sciences in China 2005, 4(10):793-800.
- 196. Pinto RS, Reynolds MP: **Common genetic basis for canopy temperature depression under heat and drought stress associated with optimized root distribution in bread wheat**. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2015, **128**(4):575-585.
- 197. Balota M, Payne WA, Evett SR, Peters TR: Morphological and Physiological Traits Associated with Canopy Temperature Depression in Three Closely Related Wheat Lines. Crop Science 2008, 48(5):1897-1910.
- 198. Mason RE, Hays DB, Mondal S, Ibrahim AMH, Basnet BR: **QTL for yield, yield** components and canopy temperature depression in wheat under late sown field conditions. *Euphytica* 2013, **194**(2):243-259.
- 199. Goos R: Tillering patterns in spring wheat and the need for phosphorus. *Better Crops* 1995, **79**(3):10-12.
- 200. Khan A, Azam F, Ali A, Tariq M, Amin M: Inter-relationship and path coefficient analysis for biometric traits in drought tolerant wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 2005, **4**(5):540-543.
- 201. Donald CM: The breeding of crop ideotypes. *Euphytica* 1968, **17**(3):385-403.
- 202. Duggan BL, Richards RA, van Herwaarden AF, Fettell NA: **Agronomic evaluation of a** tiller inhibition gene (tin) in wheat. I. Effect on yield, yield components, and grain protein. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 2005, **56**(2):169-178.
- 203. Simane B, Struik PC, Nachit MM, Peacock JM: **Ontogenetic analysis of yield components** and yield stability of durum wheat in water-limited environments. *Euphytica* 1993, **71**(3):211-219.
- 204. Leilah AA, Al-Khateeb SA: **Statistical analysis of wheat yield under drought conditions**. *Journal of Arid Environments* 2005, **61**(3):483-496.
- 205. Innes P, Blackwell RD: **The effect of drought on the water use and yield of two spring wheat genotypes**. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 1981, **96**(3):603-610.
- 206. Giunta F, Motzo R, Deidda M: Effect of drought on yield and yield components of durum wheat and triticale in a Mediterranean environment. *Field Crops Research* 1993, 33(4):399-409.
- 207. Kilic H, YAĞBASANLAR T: **The effect of drought stress on grain yield, yield components and some quality traits of durum wheat (Triticum turgidum ssp. durum) cultivars**. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca* 2010, **38**(1):164-170.
- 208. Ahmadizadeh M, Shahbazi H, Valizadeh M, Zaefizadeh M: Genetic diversity of durum wheat landraces using multivariate analysis under normal irrigation and drought stress conditions. *Afr J Agric Res* 2011, **6**(10):2294-2302.
- 209. O'Brien L: Genetic variability of root growth in wheat (<I>Triticum aestivum</I>L.). *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 1979, **30**(4):587-595.
- 210. Gregory P: Root growth and activity. In: Boote, KJ, Bennett JM, Sinclair, TR and Paulsen, GM (Eds.), Physiology and determination of crop yield. 1994.

- 211. Manske G, Vlek P: Root Architecture-wheat as a model plant. Plant roots: The hidden half. In.; 2002.
- 212. Blum A: Effective use of water (EUW) and not water-use efficiency (WUE) is the target of crop yield improvement under drought stress. *Field Crops Research* 2009, **112**(2):119-123.
- 213. Ehdaie B, Layne AP, Waines JG: Root system plasticity to drought influences grain yield in bread wheat. *Euphytica* 2012, **186**(1):219-232.
- 214. Nakamoto T, Oyanagi A: **The Direction of Growth of Seminal Roots of Triticum aestivum** L. and Experimental Modification Thereof. *Annals of Botany* 1994, **73**(4):363-367.
- 215. Sharma RC, Lafever HN: Variation for root traits and their genetic control in spring wheat. *Euphytica* 1991, **59**(1):1-8.
- 216. Manschadi AM, Hammer GL, Christopher JT, Devoil P: Genotypic variation in seedling root architectural traits and implications for drought adaptation in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Plant and soil* 2008, **303**(1-2):115-129.
- 217. Khlestkina EK, Salina EA: SNP markers: Methods of analysis, ways of development, and comparison on an example of common wheat. *Russian Journal of Genetics* 2006, 42(6):585-594.
- 218. Brookes AJ: The essence of SNPs. Gene 1999, 234(2):177-186.
- 219. Gupta P, Roy J, Prasad M: Single nucleotide polymorphisms: a new paradigm for molecular marker technology and DNA polymorphism detection with emphasis on their use in plants. *Curr Sci* 2001, **80**(4):524-535.
- 220. Jin Q, Waters D, Cordeiro GM, Henry RJ, Reinke RF: A single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) marker linked to the fragrance gene in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Plant Science* 2003, 165(2):359-364.
- 221. Hayashi K, Hashimoto N, Daigen M, Ashikawa I: **Development of PCR-based SNP** markers for rice blast resistance genes at the Piz locus. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2004, **108**(7):1212-1220.
- 222. Arumuganathan K, Earle ED: Nuclear DNA content of some important plant species. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 1991, **9**(3):208-218.
- 223. Bennett MD, LEITCH IJ, PRICE HJ, JOHNSTON JS: Comparisons with Caenorhabditis (~ 100 Mb) and Drosophila (~ 175 Mb) using flow cytometry show genome size in Arabidopsis to be~ 157 Mb and thus~ 25% larger than the Arabidopsis genome initiative estimate of~ 125 Mb. Annals of botany 2003, 91(5):547-557.
- 224. Eckardt NA: Sequencing the rice genome. In.: Am Soc Plant Biol; 2000.
- 225. Dhingra A: **The apple genome harbinger of innovation for sustainable apple production**. In.; 2017: 23-34.
- 226. Llaca V, Campbell MA, Deschamps S: Genome Diversity in Maize. *Journal of Botany* 2011, 2011:104172.
- 227. Alaux M, Rogers J, Letellier T, Flores R, Alfama F, Pommier C, Mohellibi N, Durand S, Kimmel E, Michotey C: Linking the International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium bread wheat reference genome sequence to wheat genetic and phenomic data. *Genome biology* 2018, **19**(1):111.
- 228. Ganal MW, Röder MS: **Microsatellite and SNP Markers in Wheat Breeding**. In: *Genomics-Assisted Crop Improvement: Vol 2: Genomics Applications in Crops*. Edited by Varshney RK, Tuberosa R. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2007: 1-24.
- 229. Devos KM, Bryan GJ, Collins AJ, Stephenson P, Gale MD: **Application of two microsatellite sequences in wheat storage proteins as molecular markers**. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 1995, **90**(2):247-252.
- 230. Röder MS, Plaschke J, König SU, Börner A, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD, Ganal MW: **Abundance, variability and chromosomal location of microsatellites in wheat**. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG* 1995, **246**(3):327-333.
- 231. Bryan GJ, Collins AJ, Stephenson P, Orry A, Smith JB, Gale MD: **Isolation and** characterisation of microsatellites from hexaploid bread wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 1997, **94**(5):557-563.

- 232. Trebbi D, Maccaferri M, de Heer P, Sørensen A, Giuliani S, Salvi S, Sanguineti MC, Massi A, van der Vossen EAG, Tuberosa R: **High-throughput SNP discovery and genotyping in durum wheat (Triticum durum Desf.)**. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2011, **123**(4):555-569.
- 233. Würschum T, Langer SM, Longin CFH, Korzun V, Akhunov E, Ebmeyer E, Schachschneider R, Schacht J, Kazman E, Reif JC: **Population structure, genetic diversity and linkage disequilibrium in elite winter wheat assessed with SNP and SSR markers**. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2013, **126**(6):1477-1486.
- 234. Kassa MT, You FM, Fetch TG, Fobert P, Sharpe A, Pozniak CJ, Menzies JG, Jordan MC, Humphreys G, Zhu T *et al*: Genetic mapping of SrCad and SNP marker development for marker-assisted selection of Ug99 stem rust resistance in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2016, **129**(7):1373-1382.
- 235. Kassa MT, You FM, Hiebert CW, Pozniak CJ, Fobert PR, Sharpe AG, Menzies JG, Humphreys DG, Rezac Harrison N, Fellers JP *et al*: **Highly predictive SNP markers for efficient selection of the wheat leaf rust resistance gene Lr16**. *BMC Plant Biology* 2017, **17**(1):45.
- 236. Zhao XL, Ma W, Gale KR, Lei ZS, He ZH, Sun QX, Xia XC: Identification of SNPs and development of functional markers for LMW-GS genes at Glu-D3 and Glu-B3 loci in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *Molecular Breeding* 2007, **20**(3):223-231.
- 237. Slatkin M: Linkage disequilibrium understanding the evolutionary past and mapping the medical future. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2008, **9**(6):477-485.
- 238. Somers DJ, Banks T, DePauw R, Fox S, Clarke J, Pozniak C, McCartney C: Genome-wide linkage disequilibrium analysis in bread wheat and durum wheat. *Genome* 2007, 50(6):557-567.
- 239. Hao C, Wang L, Ge H, Dong Y, Zhang X: Genetic Diversity and Linkage Disequilibrium in Chinese Bread Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) Revealed by SSR Markers. *PLOS ONE* 2011, 6(2):e17279.
- 240. Beyer S, Daba S, Tyagi P, Bockelman H, Brown-Guedira G, Mohammadi M: Loci and candidate genes controlling root traits in wheat seedlings—a wheat root GWAS. *Functional & integrative genomics* 2019, **19**(1):91-107.
- 241. Luján Basile SM, Ramírez IA, Crescente JM, Conde MB, Demichelis M, Abbate P, Rogers WJ, Pontaroli AC, Helguera M, Vanzetti LS: Haplotype block analysis of an Argentinean hexaploid wheat collection and GWAS for yield components and adaptation. *BMC Plant Biology* 2019, **19**(1):553.
- 242. Appels R, Eversole K, Stein N, Feuillet C, Keller B, Rogers J, Pozniak CJ, Choulet F, Distelfeld A, Poland J *et al*: **Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome**. *Science* 2018, **361**(6403):eaar7191.
- 243. Xu X, Liu X, Ge S, Jensen JD, Hu F, Li X, Dong Y, Gutenkunst RN, Fang L, Huang L *et al*: **Resequencing 50 accessions of cultivated and wild rice yields markers for identifying agronomically important genes**. *Nature Biotechnology* 2012, **30**(1):105-111.
- 244. Ossowski S, Schneeberger K, Clark RM, Lanz C, Warthmann N, Weigel D: Sequencing of natural strains of Arabidopsis thaliana with short reads. *Genome research* 2008, 18(12):2024-2033.
- 245. Fan J-B, Chee MS, Gunderson KL: **Highly parallel genomic assays**. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2006, **7**(8):632-644.
- 246. Baird NA, Etter PD, Atwood TS, Currey MC, Shiver AL, Lewis ZA, Selker EU, Cresko WA, Johnson EA: **Rapid SNP discovery and genetic mapping using sequenced RAD markers**. *PloS one* 2008, **3**(10):e3376.
- 247. Poland JA, Brown PJ, Sorrells ME, Jannink J-L: **Development of high-density genetic maps for barley and wheat using a novel two-enzyme genotyping-by-sequencing approach**. *PloS one* 2012, **7**(2):e32253.
- 248. He J, Zhao X, Laroche A, Lu Z-X, Liu H, Li Z: Genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS), an ultimate marker-assisted selection (MAS) tool to accelerate plant breeding. *Front Plant Sci* 2014, **5**:484.

- 249. Baloch FS, Alsaleh A, Shahid MQ, Çiftçi V, E. Sáenz de Miera L, Aasim M, Nadeem MA, Aktaş H, Özkan H, Hatipoğlu R: A whole genome DArTseq and SNP analysis for genetic diversity assessment in durum wheat from central fertile crescent. *PloS one* 2017, 12(1):e0167821.
- 250. Hussain W, Baenziger PS, Belamkar V, Guttieri MJ, Venegas JP, Easterly A, Sallam A, Poland J: Genotyping-by-Sequencing Derived High-Density Linkage Map and its Application to QTL Mapping of Flag Leaf Traits in Bread Wheat. *Scientific Reports* 2017, 7(1):16394.
- 251. Guo Z, Yang W, Chang Y, Ma X, Tu H, Xiong F, Jiang N, Feng H, Huang C, Yang P: Genome-wide association studies of image traits reveal genetic architecture of drought resistance in rice. *Molecular Plant* 2018, **11**(6):789-805.
- 252. Blum A: **Drought resistance–is it really a complex trait?** *Functional Plant Biology* 2011, **38**(10):753-757.
- 253. Jabbari M, Fakheri BA, Aghnoum R, Mahdi Nezhad N, Ataei R: **GWAS analysis in spring barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) for morphological traits exposed to drought**. *PloS one* 2018, **13**(9):e0204952.
- 254. Thabet SG, Moursi YS, Karam MA, Börner A, Alqudah AM: Natural variation uncovers candidate genes for barley spikelet number and grain yield under drought stress. *Genes* 2020, **11**(5):533.
- 255. Wang X, Wang H, Liu S, Ferjani A, Li J, Yan J, Yang X, Qin F: Genetic variation in ZmVPP1 contributes to drought tolerance in maize seedlings. *Nature Genetics* 2016, 48(10):1233-1241.
- 256. Guo J, Li C, Zhang X, Li Y, Zhang D, Shi Y, Song Y, Li Y, Yang D, Wang T: Transcriptome and GWAS analyses reveal candidate gene for seminal root length of maize seedlings under drought stress. *Plant Science* 2020, 292:110380.
- 257. Wang N, Wang Z-p, Liang X-l, Weng J-f, Lv X-l, Zhang D-g, Yang J, Yong H-j, Li M-s, Li F-h *et al*: Identification of loci contributing to maize drought tolerance in a genome-wide association study. *Euphytica* 2016, **210**(2):165-179.
- 258. Bernier J, Kumar A, Ramaiah V, Spaner D, Atlin G: A Large-Effect QTL for Grain Yield under Reproductive-Stage Drought Stress in Upland Rice. *Crop Science* 2007, 47(2):507-516.
- 259. Pantalião GF, Narciso M, Guimarães C, Castro A, Colombari JM, Breseghello F, Rodrigues L, Vianello RP, Borba TO, Brondani C: Genome wide association study (GWAS) for grain yield in rice cultivated under water deficit. *Genetica* 2016, 144(6):651-664.
- 260. Li X, Guo Z, Lv Y, Cen X, Ding X, Wu H, Li X, Huang J, Xiong L: Genetic control of the root system in rice under normal and drought stress conditions by genome-wide association study. *Plos genetics* 2017, **13**(7):e1006889.
- 261. Spindel JE, Dahlberg J, Colgan M, Hollingsworth J, Sievert J, Staggenborg SH, Hutmacher R, Jansson C, Vogel JP: Association mapping by aerial drone reveals 213 genetic associations for Sorghum bicolor biomass traits under drought. *BMC Genomics* 2018, 19(1):679.
- 262. Annicchiarico P, Nazzicari N, Pecetti L, Romani M, Ferrari B, Wei Y, Brummer EC: **GBS-Based Genomic Selection for Pea Grain Yield under Severe Terminal Drought**. *The Plant Genome* 2017, **10**(2):plantgenome2016.2007.0072.
- 263. Li D, Dossa K, Zhang Y, Wei X, Wang L, Zhang Y, Liu A, Zhou R, Zhang X: **GWAS** uncovers differential genetic bases for drought and salt tolerances in sesame at the germination stage. *Genes* 2018, **9**(2):87.
- Li B, Chen L, Sun W, Wu D, Wang M, Yu Y, Chen G, Yang W, Lin Z, Zhang X *et al*:
 Phenomics-based GWAS analysis reveals the genetic architecture for drought resistance in cotton. *Plant Biotechnol J* 2020, n/a(n/a).
- 265. Hou S, Zhu G, Li Y, Li W, Fu J, Niu E, Li L, Zhang D, Guo W: Genome-Wide Association Studies Reveal Genetic Variation and Candidate Genes of Drought Stress Related Traits in Cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.). *Front Plant Sci* 2018, 9(1276).

- 266. Chapman JA, Mascher M, Buluç A, Barry K, Georganas E, Session A, Strnadova V, Jenkins J, Sehgal S, Oliker L *et al*: A whole-genome shotgun approach for assembling and anchoring the hexaploid bread wheat genome. *Genome Biology* 2015, **16**(1):26.
- 267. Brenchley R, Spannagl M, Pfeifer M, Barker GLA, D'Amore R, Allen AM, McKenzie N, Kramer M, Kerhornou A, Bolser D *et al*: **Analysis of the bread wheat genome using wholegenome shotgun sequencing**. *Nature* 2012, **491**(7426):705-710.
- 268. Allen AM, Winfield MO, Burridge AJ, Downie RC, Benbow HR, Barker GLA, Wilkinson PA, Coghill J, Waterfall C, Davassi A *et al*: Characterization of a Wheat Breeders' Array suitable for high-throughput SNP genotyping of global accessions of hexaploid bread wheat (Triticum aestivum). *Plant Biotechnol J* 2017, **15**(3):390-401.
- 269. Wang S, Wong D, Forrest K, Allen A, Chao S, Huang BE, Maccaferri M, Salvi S, Milner SG, Cattivelli L *et al*: **Characterization of polyploid wheat genomic diversity using a high-density 90 000 single nucleotide polymorphism array**. *Plant Biotechnol J* 2014, **12**(6):787-796.
- 270. Cui F, Zhang N, Fan X-l, Zhang W, Zhao C-h, Yang L-j, Pan R-q, Chen M, Han J, Zhao X-q et al: Utilization of a Wheat660K SNP array-derived high-density genetic map for highresolution mapping of a major QTL for kernel number. Scientific Reports 2017, 7(1):3788.
- 271. Winfield MO, Allen AM, Burridge AJ, Barker GLA, Benbow HR, Wilkinson PA, Coghill J, Waterfall C, Davassi A, Scopes G *et al*: **High-density SNP genotyping array for hexaploid** wheat and its secondary and tertiary gene pool. *Plant Biotechnol J* 2016, **14**(5):1195-1206.
- 272. Zanke CD, Ling J, Plieske J, Kollers S, Ebmeyer E, Korzun V, Argillier O, Stiewe G, Hinze M, Neumann K: Whole genome association mapping of plant height in winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). *PloS one* 2014, 9(11):e113287.
- 273. Sukumaran S, Dreisigacker S, Lopes M, Chavez P, Reynolds MP: Genome-wide association study for grain yield and related traits in an elite spring wheat population grown in temperate irrigated environments. *Theoretical and applied genetics* 2015, **128**(2):353-363.
- 274. Lin M, Zhang D, Liu S, Zhang G, Yu J, Fritz AK, Bai G: Genome-wide association analysis on pre-harvest sprouting resistance and grain color in U.S. winter wheat. *BMC Genomics* 2016, **17**(1):794.
- 275. Sun C, Zhang F, Yan X, Zhang X, Dong Z, Cui D, Chen F: Genome-wide association study for 13 agronomic traits reveals distribution of superior alleles in bread wheat from the Yellow and Huai Valley of China. *Plant Biotechnol J* 2017, **15**(8):953-969.
- 276. Edae EA, Byrne PF, Haley SD, Lopes MS, Reynolds MP: Genome-wide association mapping of yield and yield components of spring wheat under contrasting moisture regimes. *Theoretical and applied genetics* 2014, **127**(4):791-807.
- 277. Sukumaran S, Reynolds MP, Sansaloni C: Genome-Wide Association Analyses Identify QTL Hotspots for Yield and Component Traits in Durum Wheat Grown under Yield Potential, Drought, and Heat Stress Environments. *Front Plant Sci* 2018, **9**(81).
- 278. Wang S, Xu S, Chao S, Sun Q, Liu S, Xia G: A Genome-Wide Association Study of Highly Heritable Agronomic Traits in Durum Wheat. *Front Plant Sci* 2019, **10**(919).
- 279. Touzy G, Rincent R, Bogard M, Lafarge S, Dubreuil P, Mini A, Deswarte J-C, Beauchêne K, Le Gouis J, Praud S: Using environmental clustering to identify specific drought tolerance QTLs in bread wheat (T. aestivum L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 2019, 132(10):2859-2880.
- 280. Shokat S, Sehgal D, Liu F, Singh S: **GWAS Analysis of Wheat Pre-breeding Germplasm for Terminal Drought Stress Using Next Generation Sequencing Technology**. 2020.
- 281. Mathew I, Shimelis H, Shayanowako AIT, Laing M, Chaplot V: Genome-wide association study of drought tolerance and biomass allocation in wheat. *PloS one* 2019, 14(12):e0225383.
- 282. Lin Y, Yi X, Tang S, Chen W, Wu F, Yang X, Jiang X, Shi H, Ma J, Chen G *et al*: **Dissection** of Phenotypic and Genetic Variation of Drought-Related Traits in Diverse Chinese Wheat Landraces. *The Plant Genome* 2019, **12**(3):190025.
- 283. Ballesta P, Mora F, Del Pozo A: Association mapping of drought tolerance indices in wheat: QTL-rich regions on chromosome 4A. *Scientia Agricola* 2020, 77.

- 284. Alexander LM, Kirigwi FM, Fritz AK, Fellers JP: Mapping and Quantitative Trait Loci Analysis of Drought Tolerance in a Spring Wheat Population Using Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism and Diversity Array Technology Markers. Crop Science 2012, 52(1):253-261.
- 285. Kumar S, Sehgal SK, Kumar U, Prasad PVV, Joshi AK, Gill BS: Genomic characterization of drought tolerance-related traits in spring wheat. *Euphytica* 2012, **186**(1):265-276.
- 286. Zaynali Nezhad K, Weber WE, Röder MS, Sharma S, Lohwasser U, Meyer RC, Saal B, Börner A: QTL analysis for thousand-grain weight under terminal drought stress in bread wheat (Triticumaestivum L.). Euphytica 2012, 186(1):127-138.
- 287. Bhatta M, Morgounov A, Belamkar V, Baenziger PS: Genome-Wide Association Study Reveals Novel Genomic Regions for Grain Yield and Yield-Related Traits in Drought-Stressed Synthetic Hexaploid Wheat. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2018, 19(10):3011.
- 288. ÖZTÜRK A, TAŞKESENLİGİL B, HALİLOĞLU K, Aydin M, ÇAĞLAR Ö: **Evaluation of bread wheat genotypes for early drought resistance via germinationunder osmotic stress, cell membrane damage, and paraquat tolerance**. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry* 2016, **40**(2):146-159.
- 289. ElBasyoni I, Saadalla M, Baenziger S, Bockelman H, Morsy S: **Cell Membrane Stability** and Association Mapping for Drought and Heat Tolerance in a Worldwide Wheat Collection. *Sustainability* 2017, **9**(9):1606.
- 290. Bertil D: Advanced Information: RNA interference. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 2006 [Internet].[cited 2012 Oct 14]. In.; 2006.
- 291. Chuang C-F, Meyerowitz EM: Specific and heritable genetic interference by doublestranded RNA in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2000, **97**(9):4985-4990.
- 292. Bednarek J, Boulaflous A, Girousse C, Ravel C, Tassy C, Barret P, Bouzidi MF, Mouzeyar S: Down-regulation of the TaGW2 gene by RNA interference results in decreased grain size and weight in wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2012, **63**(16):5945-5955.
- 293. Cui X-Y, Gao Y, Guo J, Yu T-F, Zheng W-J, Liu Y-W, Chen J, Xu Z-S, Ma Y-Z: **BES/BZR Transcription Factor TaBZR2 Positively Regulates Drought Responses by Activation of TaGST1**. *Plant physiology* 2019, **180**(1):605-620.
- 294. Yu Z, Wang X, Mu X, Zhang L: RNAi mediated silencing of dehydrin gene <i>WZY2</i>confers osmotic stress intolerance in transgenic wheat. *Functional Plant Biology* 2019, 46(10):877-884.
- 295. Burch-Smith TM, Anderson JC, Martin GB, Dinesh-Kumar SP: Applications and advantages of virus-induced gene silencing for gene function studies in plants. *The Plant Journal* 2004, **39**(5):734-746.
- 296. Waterhouse PM, Wang M-B, Lough T: Gene silencing as an adaptive defence against viruses. *Nature* 2001, **411**(6839):834-842.
- 297. Van Kammen A: Virus-induced gene silencing in infected and transgenic plants. *Trends in Plant Science* 1997, **2**(11):409-411.
- 298. Baulcombe DC: Fast forward genetics based on virus-induced gene silencing. *Current* opinion in plant biology 1999, **2**(2):109-113.
- 299. Kumagai MH, Donson J, Della-Cioppa G, Harvey D, Hanley K, Grill L: **Cytoplasmic** inhibition of carotenoid biosynthesis with virus-derived RNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1995, **92**(5):1679-1683.
- 300. Liu Y, Schiff M, Marathe R, Dinesh Kumar S: Tobacco Rar1, EDS1 and NPR1/NIM1 like genes are required for N - mediated resistance to tobacco mosaic virus. *The Plant Journal* 2002, **30**(4):415-429.
- 301. Ratcliff F, Martin Hernandez AM, Baulcombe DC: Technical advance: tobacco rattle virus as a vector for analysis of gene function by silencing. *The Plant Journal* 2001, 25(2):237-245.

- 302. Ekengren SK, Liu Y, Schiff M, Dinesh Kumar S, Martin GB: Two MAPK cascades, NPR1, and TGA transcription factors play a role in Pto - mediated disease resistance in tomato. *The Plant Journal* 2003, 36(6):905-917.
- 303. Liu Y, Schiff M, Dinesh-Kumar SP: Virus-induced gene silencing in tomato. *The Plant Journal* 2002, **31**(6):777-786.
- 304. Scofield SR, Huang L, Brandt AS, Gill BS: **Development of a virus-induced gene-silencing** system for hexaploid wheat and its use in functional analysis of the Lr21-mediated leaf rust resistance pathway. *Plant physiology* 2005, **138**(4):2165-2173.
- 305. Wang G-F, Wei X, Fan R, Zhou H, Wang X, Yu C, Dong L, Dong Z, Wang X, Kang Z *et al*: Molecular analysis of common wheat genes encoding three types of cytosolic heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90): functional involvement of cytosolic Hsp90s in the control of wheat seedling growth and disease resistance. *New Phytologist* 2011, **191**(2):418-431.
- 306. Geng S, Li A, Tang L, Yin L, Wu L, Lei C, Guo X, Zhang X, Jiang G, Zhai W *et al*: **TaCPK2-A**, a calcium-dependent protein kinase gene that is required for wheat powdery mildew resistance enhances bacterial blight resistance in transgenic rice. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2013, **64**(11):3125-3136.
- 307. Manmathan H, Shaner D, Snelling J, Tisserat N, Lapitan N: Virus-induced gene silencing of Arabidopsis thaliana gene homologues in wheat identifies genes conferring improved drought tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2013, **64**(5):1381-1392.
- 308. Wang X, Xu Y, Li J, Ren Y, Wang Z, Xin Z, Lin T: Identification of Two Novel Wheat Drought Tolerance-Related Proteins by Comparative Proteomic Analysis Combined with Virus-Induced Gene Silencing. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2018, 19(12):4020.
- 309. Rong W, Qi L, Wang A, Ye X, Du L, Liang H, Xin Z, Zhang Z: **The ERF transcription factor TaERF3 promotes tolerance to salt and drought stresses in wheat**. *Plant Biotechnol J* 2014, **12**(4):468-479.
- 310. Wang X, Ren Y, Li J, Wang Z, Xin Z, Lin T: **Knock-down the expression of TaH2B-7D** using virus-induced gene silencing reduces wheat drought tolerance. *Biological Research* 2019, **52**(1):14.
- 311. Beggs JD: **Transformation of yeast by a replicating hybrid plasmid**. *Nature* 1978, **275**(5676):104-109.
- 312. Hinnen A, Hicks JB, Fink GR: **Transformation of yeast**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1978, **75**(4):1929-1933.
- 313. Smith WC, Harland RM: Expression cloning of noggin, a new dorsalizing factor localized to the Spemann organizer in Xenopus embryos. *Cell* 1992, **70**(5):829-840.
- 314. Staudt N, Molitor A, Somogyi K, Mata J, Curado S, Eulenberg K, Meise M, Siegmund T, Häder T, Hilfiker A: Gain-of-function screen for genes that affect Drosophila muscle pattern formation. *PLoS genetics* 2005, 1(4):e55.
- 315. Kakimoto T: **CKI1, a histidine kinase homolog implicated in cytokinin signal transduction**. *Science* 1996, **274**(5289):982-985.
- 316. Chen L, Zhang Z, Liang H, Liu H, Du L, Xu H, Xin Z: **Overexpression of TiERF1** enhances resistance to sharp eyespot in transgenic wheat. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 2008, **59**(15):4195-4204.
- 317. Rooke L, Békés F, Fido R, Barro F, Gras P, Tatham AS, Barcelo P, Lazzeri P, Shewry PR: Overexpression of a Gluten Protein in Transgenic Wheat Results in Greatly Increased Dough Strength. *Journal of Cereal Science* 1999, **30**(2):115-120.
- 318. Mackintosh CA, Lewis J, Radmer LE, Shin S, Heinen SJ, Smith LA, Wyckoff MN, Dill-Macky R, Evans CK, Kravchenko S et al: Overexpression of defense response genes in transgenic wheat enhances resistance to Fusarium head blight. Plant Cell Reports 2007, 26(4):479-488.
- 319. Zhou S, Hu W, Deng X, Ma Z, Chen L, Huang C, Wang C, Wang J, He Y, Yang G *et al*: **Overexpression of the Wheat Aquaporin Gene, TaAQP7, Enhances Drought Tolerance in Transgenic Tobacco**. *PLOS ONE* 2012, **7**(12):e52439.

- 320. Hu W, Yuan Q, Wang Y, Cai R, Deng X, Wang J, Zhou S, Chen M, Chen L, Huang C *et al*: **Overexpression of a Wheat Aquaporin Gene, TaAQP8, Enhances Salt Stress Tolerance in Transgenic Tobacco**. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 2012, **53**(12):2127-2141.
- 321. Zhang H, Mao X, Wang C, Jing R: **Overexpression of a Common Wheat Gene TaSnRK2.8 Enhances Tolerance to Drought, Salt and Low Temperature in Arabidopsis**. *PLOS ONE* 2011, **5**(12):e16041.
- 322. Xue G-P, Way HM, Richardson T, Drenth J, Joyce PA, McIntyre CL: **Overexpression of TaNAC69 Leads to Enhanced Transcript Levels of Stress Up-Regulated Genes and Dehydration Tolerance in Bread Wheat**. *Molecular Plant* 2011, **4**(4):697-712.
- 323. Gao H, Wang Y, Xu P, Zhang Z: **Overexpression of a WRKY Transcription Factor TaWRKY2 Enhances Drought Stress Tolerance in Transgenic Wheat**. *Front Plant Sci* 2018, **9**(997).
- 324. El-Esawi MA, Al-Ghamdi AA, Ali HM, Ahmad M: **Overexpression of AtWRKY30 Transcription Factor Enhances Heat and Drought Stress Tolerance in Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)**. *Genes* 2019, **10**(2):163.
- 325. Parry MAJ, Flexas J, Medrano H: **Prospects for crop production under drought: research priorities and future directions**. *Annals of Applied Biology* 2005, **147**(3):211-226.
- 326. ORELLANA S, YAÑEZ M, ESPINOZA A, VERDUGO I, GONZÁLEZ E, RUIZ-LARA S, CASARETTO JA: The transcription factor SlAREB1 confers drought, salt stress tolerance and regulates biotic and abiotic stress-related genes in tomato. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 2010, **33**(12):2191-2208.
- 327. Ehdaie B, Whitkus RW, Waines JG: Root Biomass, Water-Use Efficiency, and Performance of Wheat-Rye Translocations of Chromosomes 1 and 2 in Spring Bread Wheat 'Pavon'. Crop Science 2003, 43(2):710-717.
- 328. Blum A, Sinmena B, Ziv O: An evaluation of seed and seedling drought tolerance screening tests in wheat. *Euphytica (Netherlands)* 1980.
- 329. Keyes SD, Daly KR, Gostling NJ, Jones DL, Talboys P, Pinzer BR, Boardman R, Sinclair I, Marchant A, Roose T: **High resolution synchrotron imaging of wheat root hairs growing in soil and image based modelling of phosphate uptake**. *New Phytologist* 2013, **198**(4):1023-1029.
- 330. Koebernick N, Daly KR, Keyes SD, George TS, Brown LK, Raffan A, Cooper LJ, Naveed M, Bengough AG, Sinclair I: **High - resolution synchrotron imaging shows that root hairs influence rhizosphere soil structure formation**. *New Phytologist* 2017, **216**(1):124-135.
- 331. Menon M, Robinson B, Oswald SE, Kaestner A, Abbaspour KC, Lehmann E, Schulin R: Visualization of root growth in heterogeneously contaminated soil using neutron radiography. European Journal of Soil Science 2007, 58(3):802-810.
- 332. Tötzke C, Kardjilov N, Manke I, Oswald SE: Capturing 3D water flow in rooted soil by ultra-fast neutron tomography. *Scientific reports* 2017, 7(1):1-9.
- 333. Couchat P, Moutonnet P, Houelle M, Picard D: In Situ Study of Corn Seedling Root and Shoot Growth by Neutron Radiography 1. *Agronomy Journal* 1980, 72(2):321-324.
- 334. Willatt S, Struss R: Germination and early growth of plants studied using neutron radiography. *Annals of Botany* 1979, **43**(4):415-422.
- 335. Mawodza T, Burca G, Casson S, Menon M: Wheat root system architecture and soil moisture distribution in an aggregated soil using neutron computed tomography. *Geoderma* 2020, **359**:113988.